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Todd E. Kennedy (NSB# 6014) 
BLACK & LOBELLO  
10777 West Twain Avenue, Suite 300 
tkennedy@blacklobellolaw.com  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
 
Attorneys for Receiver Timothy Mulliner, Esq., acting on  
behalf of Plaintiff Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, 
LLC a Nevada limited liability company;  
 
                               Plaintiff, 
vs. 
 
William Smith MD, Pankaj Bhatnagar MD, 
Marjorie Belsky MD, Sheldon Freedman MD, 
Mathew Ng MD, Daniel Burkhead MD, 
Manager MD, DOE MANAGERS, 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 
BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 
 
                               Defendants. 

Case No.: A-17-750926-B 
Dept. No.: XV 
 
FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, 
LLC’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT 
DANIEL BURKHEAD M.D.’S MOTION 
TO DISMISS COMPLAINT  
 
Date: July 27, 2017 
Time: 9:00 AM 

 Plaintiff Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC (“Plaintiff”), through Todd E. Kennedy of 

the law firm of Black & LoBello as attorney for the Receiver Timothy Mulliner Esq., hereby 

opposes Defendant Dr. Daniel Burkhead’s (“Defendant Burkhead” or “Defendant”) Motion to 

Dismiss Complaint (“Motion”).1 
I. SUMMARY 

Defendant and other defendants named in this action (collectively, “Defendants”) were 

practicing surgeons in a small group LLC which was robbed blind over several years by an 

unsupervised, do-it-all office manager Defendants hired and completely failed to supervise.  
                                                

1 Defendant’s Motion is one of three filed in response to Plaintiff’s complaint.  In order to 
avoid redundant/repetitive filings, this Opposition and the forthcoming Opposition to Defendant 
Sheldon J. Freedman’s Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and 12(b)(6) and for 
Attorneys (sic) Fees Pursuant to NRS 18.020, shall rely on and incorporate by reference 
Plaintiff’s Opposition to Dr. Matthew Ng and Dr. Pankaj Bhatnagar’s Motion to Dismiss (“Ng 
Opposition”) and the Declaration of Todd E. Kennedy (“Kennedy Decl.”)(and all four of the 
Exhibits thereto) filed with the Ng Opposition on Thursday, June 13, 2017 (yesterday).  

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
7/14/2017 9:24 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Defendants’ failures exceed the gross negligence standard, the willful disregard standard of 

intentionality and, separately, constitute breaches of their fiduciary duties to Plaintiff.  In 

subsequent criminal proceedings the office manager, Robert Barnes, admitted to embezzling at 

least $1.3 million from Plaintiff while the Defendants – Plaintiff’s managers, directors and/or 

officers owing duties to Plaintiff – did nothing.  Not only did Defendants fail to supervise 

Barnes or timely uncover his looting, Defendants failed to immediately fire Barnes once they did 

discover it – instead, they allowed the criminal to remain in his position for a year after 

discovery.  Eventually, and well after his criminal acts became known, Barnes was either fired or 

left on his own accord, with sufficient time, unsupervised access, and autonomy to abscond with 

the computer system, empty his office, and take all files associated with his looting. Defendants 

failed to perform an audit or even pursue Barnes on Plaintiff’s behalf, and failed to file a 

complaint against Barnes.  Shockingly, according to defendant Dr. Smith, it took Defendants six 

(6) months after Barnes absconded to approach the FBI.  As such, Defendants were grossly 

negligent and breached fiduciary duties they owed to Plaintiff as managers, directors, and/or 

officers, in allowing Plaintiff to be looted by Barnes’ operation over several years and doing 

nothing to protect Plaintiff’s interests upon discovery.   

Defendants’ latest intentional breaches of their fiduciary duties to Plaintiff are 

evidenced—in writing—within the Restitution List attached to the U.S. District Court for the 

District of Nevada’s March 28, 2017 Amended Judgment in Barnes’ criminal case.2  Defendants 

failed to submit any claims on behalf of Plaintiff, the actual victim of Barnes’ criminal acts, 

despite knowing of Plaintiff’s insolvency and that its creditors remained unpaid and left in the 

cold.  Accordingly, Plaintiff is not listed as a recipient of assets forfeited by its former larcenous 

employee—that it alone is entitled to.  Even worse, the list evidences Defendants’ naked self-

interest:  
 

                                                
2 See attached as Exhibit 1 to the Ng Opposition and Kennedy Decl., the “Amended 

Judgment in a Criminal Case”, Document 41 in U.S. v. Robert W. Barnes, case no. 2:16-cr-
00090-APG-GWF-1, at 14-15 (the “Amended Judgment”). 

AA000300
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Dr. Daniel Burkhead/Burkhead Irrevocable Trust was awarded $39,587.89 
Defendant Bhatnagar/Bhatnagar Family Trust was awarded $81,187.89  
Defendant Ng was awarded $31,787.89  
Dr. William Smith was awarded $126,687.89  
Dr. Sheldon Freedman was awarded $61,287.893  

As such, Defendants not only ignored and grossly failed to protect Plaintiff’s interests, they 

intentionally usurped those interests in favor of their own, by allowing the substitution of their 

own personal self-interest over Plaintiff’s.  In other words, Defendants were personally enriched 

by their disregard of their affirmative duties to Plaintiff.  Defendants also plainly violated the 

letter of Nevada law against distributions of LLC funds where the LLC is insolvent.  See NRS 

86.343.4  There is also evidence that Defendants intentionally and actively prevented an 

investigation into Barnes’ embezzlement by other managers and/or directors.5   

 After allowing Plaintiff to be gutted, and after doing nothing about the gutting for several 

months, Defendants put Plaintiff into a bankruptcy that was ultimately dismissed and, thereafter, 

abandoned Plaintiff—leaving only an insolvent shell, to the obvious detriment of Plaintiff and its 

creditors.  

The Motion’s primary contention is that Plaintiff failed to plead gross negligence and 

willful misconduct.  Motion at 5-6.  This contention fails on the explicit wording of the 

complaint,6 and on the inferences under and pleading standards of Nevada law.  Plaintiff’s 

complaint sufficiently pleads, and the evidence supports, Defendants’ gross negligence and 

                                                
3 Id.  
4 As evidenced by Exhibit 1 to Defendant Burkhead’s Motion (entity information from 

the Nevada Secretary of State), Defendants plainly continue to violate multiple provisions of 
Chapter 86, including, inter alia, the failure to properly dissolve Plaintiff and to maintain a 
registered agent.  Moreover, Defendants’ improper distributions could also be categorized as 
fraudulent transfers of corporate assets.  See, e.g., NRS 112.180, NRS 112.190, and NRS 
112.210. 

5 See Section II(C), infra. 
6 See, e.g., “Individually and collectively, Defendants omitted and grossly neglected their 

duties to Plaintiff as managers, directors and officers with respect to Barnes for many years, 
resulting in substantial damages to and against Plaintiff,” Complaint at ¶ 27 (emphasis added); 
“Upon discovering Barnes’ embezzlement and theft, Defendants individually and collectively 
failed – for an unreasonably lengthy period of time – to remove Barnes from his position…,” 
Id. at ¶ 31) (emphasis added). 

AA000301
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willful misconduct. Notwithstanding the irony of the person responsible for an entity’s revoked 

status now arguing he cannot be pursued because that entity is revoked, Defendant’s alternative 

argument that Plaintiff lacks standing is also easily defeated.  In sum, Defendant Burkhead’s 

Motion utterly fails to meet the rigorous standards required for dismissal – and even more so 

considering Defendant seeks dismissal with prejudice.7 

II. FACTS 
 

A. The Complaint and the Facts establish that Defendants Hired Office Manager 
Robert Barnes, Who Looted Plaintiff Over Several Years While Defendants Were 
Grossly Negligent and Willfully/Intentionally Ignored His Actions and Their 
Obligations to Plaintiff  

Plaintiff has conducted business for many years as an entity controlled by a group of 

surgeons practicing in Clark County, Nevada, including at an ambulatory surgery center located 

at 10195 West Twain Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 89147.  Complaint at ¶ 19.  Defendants hired 

Barnes in 2006 to be Plaintiff’s office manager, and his functions extended to Plaintiff’s “full 

financial workings, accounts, and books.”  Id. at ¶¶ 21-22.  Defendants failed to conduct the 

necessary due diligence regarding Barnes and negligently hired Barnes – placing a criminal in a 

position to easily steal from Plaintiff.  Id. at ¶¶ 23-24.  Barnes admitted in subsequent criminal 

proceedings that he embezzled at least $1.3 million during the course of his crime spree over 

many years.  Id. at ¶ 28.    

Managing Member Charles H. Tadlock testified under oath that Barnes’ hiring was a 

majority decision by the surgeons.  See attached to the Kennedy Decl. as Exhibit 2 a relevant 

                                                
7 If the Court is inclined to grant any portion of the Motion, Plaintiff shall seek leave to 

amend, which should only be denied if the proposed amendment would be futile, and which 
should be “freely given when justice so requires.” Halcrow, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 
129 Nev. Adv. Rep. 42, 302 P.3d 1148, 1152, citing NRCP 15(a).  

Rejecting a leave to amend would not be appropriate here, considering the overwhelming 
evidence of just Defendants’ intentional breaches of their fiduciary duties to Plaintiff and 
Defendants’ improper distributions and other violations of NRS Chapter 86.  To be sure, with the 
surfacing of new evidence recently (e.g., Defendant’s Motion attaches the relevant Operating 
Agreement), Plaintiff intends to move to amend the complaint in any event to incorporate 
additional causes of action, including, inter alia, breach of contract, improper distributions and 
unjust enrichment. 
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portion of Charles H. Tadlock’s January 19, 2016 Rule 2004 Examination Transcript, at 19:11-

17; 24:6-8. The “entire group” talked to Barnes about coming to work for them.  Id. at 23:22-

24:2; 24:22-25:2, and everyone had an equal say.  Id. at 24:3-5.   

Individually and collectively, Defendants failed to supervise, oversee and/or monitor 

Barnes for many years during his crime spree, allowing him to formulate and execute a pattern of 

criminal embezzlement and theft from Plaintiff – resulting in substantial damages to and against 

Plaintiff.  Complaint at ¶¶ 25-28.  The warning signs were abundant and sustained: Barnes was 

“not forthcoming” with the [financial] reports for 18 months to two years.  Exhibit 2, at 27:17-

20.  Defendants did nothing to safeguard Plaintiff’s interests and indeed actively sought to 

stymie any effort to keep tabs on Barnes.  As the complaint alleges, Defendants “omitted” and 

“grossly neglected” their duties to Plaintiff as managers, directors and officers with respect to 

Barnes for many years.  Complaint at ¶ 27 (emphasis added).  
   
B. Upon Discovering Barnes’ Embezzlement and Theft, Defendants Failed to Take 

Action to Protect Plaintiff, Intentionally Hindered Any Oversight of Barnes, and 
Allowed Barnes to Remain in His Position and Remove Files and a Computer 
System when He Decided to Abscond 

Upon discovering Barnes’ embezzlement, Defendants failed to appropriately audit, 

investigate, and determine the extent of Barnes’ crimes, resulting in substantial damages against 

Plaintiff.  Id. at ¶ 32.  Moreover, Defendants individually and collectively “ignored and failed to 

adhere to their responsibilities and obligations to Plaintiff.”  Id. at ¶ 33 (emphasis added).  Dr. 

William Smith admitted that nothing was done to safeguard Plaintiff’s interests after Barnes’ 

embezzlement was discovered in 2012 – indeed, Barnes was not even fired until 2013.  See 

attached to the Kennedy Decl. as Exhibit 3 a relevant portion of William D. Smith’s July 15, 

2015 Rule 341 Meeting Transcript (second meeting), at 5-9.  Defendants failed to hire a forensic 

accountant or other professionals to conduct an internal investigation. Id. Tadlock testified that 

Barnes just left and was not fired – and that Barnes took the computer system and all the records.  

See attached to the Kennedy Decl. as Exhibit 4 a relevant portion of Charles H. Tadlock’s 
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September 10, 2015 Rule 341 Meeting Transcript, at 22:1-15.  It took Defendants six (6) months 

after Barnes absconded to approach the FBI.  Exhibit 3, at 5:24-25.   

C. Not Only Did Defendants Fail to Take Any Actions to Protect Plaintiff’s Interests, 
but defendants on the Board of Directors Intentionally Interfered with a Managing 
Member’s Efforts to Investigate Barnes’ Embezzlement  

 The complaint asserts that defendants ignored and failed to adhere to their responsibilities 

and obligations to Plaintiff, and failed to protect and preserve Plaintiff’s assets, funding and 

interests.  Id. at ¶ 33.  They failed to demand that Barnes return Plaintiff’s funds and assets, 

failed to pursue Barnes, and failed to even file a complaint against Barnes.   Id. at ¶ 35.  

Moreover, defendants intentionally prevented others from satisfying their fiduciary duties 

to Plaintiff: Tadlock testified that directors screamed at him when he attempted to get Barnes to 

attend meetings and discuss Barnes’ embezzlement (Exhibit 2, at 28:2-15), and they “were 

shouting at [Tadlock] to leave [Barnes] alone” when Tadlock raised the issue of Barnes’ 

performance.  Id. at 28:12-15.  Defendants who were board members hindered Tadlock’s efforts 

to investigate Barnes, ignored the fact that Barnes did not show up to meetings, and engaged in 

general obstruction that lasted for more than 18 months.  Id. at 28:3-19. 
   
D. After Allowing Plaintiff to be Gutted Over Several Years and Doing Nothing, 

Defendants Intentionally Failed to Advocate For and Protect Plaintiff’s Interests in 
Barnes’ Restitution Action and Were Personally Enriched by Further Breaching of 
their Fiduciary Duties to Plaintiff  

 The complaint alleges that:  
 
 Defendants individually and collectively breached Defendants’ fiduciary duty of 

care to Plaintiff by, among other things, failing to: (a) oversee, supervise, monitor 
and discipline Plaintiff’s Office Manager, who was embezzling and stealing from 
Plaintiff; (b) supervise, care for, monitor or review Plaintiff’s books, accounts, 
and finances while Barnes was Plaintiff’s Office Manager; (c) expeditiously 
remove Barnes from the position of Plaintiff’s Office Manager upon the discovery 
of Barnes’ embezzlement and theft; (d) audit, investigate and/or determine the 
extent of Barnes’ embezzlement and theft; (e) pursue Barnes on behalf of Plaintiff 
in order to recover Plaintiff’s assets, funding and interests from Barnes; and (f) 
take appropriate, reasonable and necessary steps to protect Plaintiff’s interests vis-
à-vis Barnes and certain Defendants.  Complaint at ¶ 53.  
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In sum, Defendants did nothing with respect to Barnes – there was no audit, no investigation, 

and no efforts to recover Plaintiff’s assets from the criminal office manager.  Defendants 

compounded this failure by intentionally acting to personally benefit from their breaches of 

duties to Plaintiff.  Despite having notice from the U.S. District Court for the District of Nevada 

(Exhibit 1, at 8-10), Defendants failed to submit any claims on behalf of Plaintiff, despite 

knowing Plaintiff was the actual victim, and of Plaintiff’s insolvency and that Plaintiff’s 

creditors remained unpaid and left in the cold.  The Restitution List contains no claim on behalf 

of Plaintiff – but does contain claims reflecting Defendants’ naked self-interest:  
 
Defendant Bhatnagar/Bhatnagar Family Trust was awarded $81,187.89  
Defendant Ng was awarded $31,787.89  
Dr. William Smith was awarded $126,687.89  
Dr. Sheldon Freedman was awarded $61,287.89 
Dr. Daniel Burkhead/Burkhead Irrevocable Trust was awarded $39,587.89  

Id. at 14-15. The Restitution List identifies substantial sums awarded to, among others, the 

defendant surgeons named in this action – sums rightfully belonging to Plaintiff – at a time when 

Defendants knew Plaintiff was a gutted, post-failed-bankruptcy shell incapable of satisfying its 

obligations to its creditors.  Defendants also plainly violated the letter of Nevada law against 

distributions of LLC funds where the LLC is insolvent.  See NRS 86.343.  

III. LEGAL STANDARDS 

A. The Rigorous Standards for a Rule 12(b)(5) Motion 

When deciding a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the court “must construe 

the pleadings liberally and accept all factual allegations in the complaint as true,” drawing every 

fair inference in favor of the non-moving party.  Blackjack Bonding v. Las Vegas Mun. Ct., 116 

Nev. 1213, 1217 (2000), citing Simpson v. Mars Inc., 113 Nev. 188, 190 (1997).  It thus is not 

enough to say the complaint is wrong; the moving defendant must show beyond a doubt that the 

plaintiff could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief.  Buzz Stew, LLC v. 

City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228 (2008).  This is, as the Nevada Supreme Court has 

noted, a “rigorous standard of review.”  Id.; see also Hampe v. Foote, 118 Nev. 405, 408 (2002). 
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B. Gross Negligence and Willful/Conscious Disregard  

 In Nevada, gross negligence is “very great negligence, or absence of slight diligence, or 

the want of even scant care.”  Johns v. McAlteer, 85 Nev. 477, 481 (1969).  Similarly, in 

Delaware gross negligence is conduct that constitutes reckless indifference or actions that are 

without the bounds of reason.  McPadden v. Sidhu, 964 A.2d 1262 (Del. Ch. 2008).  

A failure to act that extends to the level of “conscious disregard” can be deemed willful 

and deliberate – or, in other words, intentional.  See NRS 42.001(1) (conscious disregard means 

“the knowledge of the probable harmful consequences of a wrongful act and a willful and 

deliberate failure to act to avoid those consequences”).  Directors can be liable for refusing or 

neglecting cavalierly to perform their duty as a director, or for ignoring either willfully or 

“through inattention obvious danger signs of employee wrongdoing” Graham v. Allis-Chalmers 

Manufacturing Co., 188 A.2d 125, 130 (Del. 1963); Stone v. Ritter, 911 A.2d 362, 369 (Del. 

2006). 

C. “Revoked” LLCs  

 In Nevada, a “revoked” LLC has the same rights as a dissolved entity with respect to 

standing to bring claims and litigate.  See NRS 86.274(5) (stating that “the same proceedings 

may be had with respect to its property and assets as apply to the dissolution of a limited liability 

company pursuant to NRS 86.505”); AA Primo Builders, Ltd. Liab. Co. v. Washington, 126 Nev. 

578, 586-7 (2010) (internal citation omitted).   

IV. ARGUMENT 
 

A. The Motion’s Primary Contention that Plaintiff Failed to Plead Gross Negligence 
and Willful Misconduct is Defeated Upon Even a Cursory Review of the Complaint 
and the Evidence  

The complaint has sufficiently pled, and the facts support, Defendants’ gross negligence 

and willful misconduct – including in explicit and detailed terms:  

•   “Individually and collectively, Defendants omitted and grossly neglected their duties to 

Plaintiff as managers, directors and officers with respect to Barnes for many years, 

resulting in substantial damages to and against Plaintiff.” Complaint at ¶ 27 (emphasis 
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added). Here, the complaint explicitly defeats the Motion.  Defendants’ utter avoidance 

of their duties allowed Barnes to formulate and execute a pattern of embezzlement from 

Plaintiff. Additionally, Defendants individually and collectively “ignored and failed to 

adhere to their responsibilities and obligations to Plaintiff”; Id. at ¶ 33 (emphasis added).   

•   Barnes was “not forthcoming” with [financial] reports for 18 months to two years 

(Exhibit 2 at 27:17-20), and avoided appearing at meetings – “obvious danger signs of 

employee wrongdoing” under Graham that Defendants willfully ignored during their 

refusal to perform their duties to Plaintiff. In the parlance of Sidhu, these actions are very 

far outside the “bounds of reason.”  In other words, it is profoundly irrational to do 

nothing while the employee who’s effectively in charge of the entity’s entire financial 

well-being ignores his duties for well over a year.  Amazingly, these actions and failures 

to act are not even the most outrageous components of Defendants’ gross negligence and 

willful misconduct.   

•   “Upon discovering Barnes’ embezzlement and theft, Defendants individually and 

collectively failed – for an unreasonably lengthy period of time – to remove Barnes 

from his position…,” Id. at ¶ 31 (emphasis added).  Defendant Dr. William Smith 

testified that nothing was done to safeguard Plaintiff’s interests after Barnes’ 

embezzlement was discovered in 2012 – indeed, Barnes was not even fired until 2013.  

See Exhibit 3, at 5-9.  These facts may indeed be the most outrageous and powerful 

evidence of Defendants’ gross negligence and willful misconduct. All three components 

of McAlteer are met in spectacular fashion: Defendants committed “very great 

negligence,” showed absolutely no diligence, and failed to manifest even “scant care” by 

allowing the criminal who stole millions and bankrupted their company to continue in the 

same position – with no controls, no penalty, no oversight/leash, and no protections for 

the looted entity.   

•   Defendants failed to hire a forensic accountant or other professionals to conduct an 

internal investigation.  Exhibit 3, at 5-9.  Defendants failed to demand that Barnes return 
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Plaintiff’s funds and assets, they failed to pursue Barnes, and they failed to even file a 

complaint against Barnes. Id. at ¶ 35.  Critically, upon discovering his crimes, 

Defendants failed to address Barnes’ continued controls of Plaintiff’s finances for several 

months.  Defendants failed to implement and/or enforce IT protections and record 

retention policies after Barnes’ crimes were discovered.  Barnes simply left the next 

calendar year, taking with him the computer system and all of the records and emptying 

out his office; See Exhibit 4, at 22:1-15.  These actions and failures to act reflect 

Defendants’ reckless indifference and “want of even scant care.”  Here, Defendants acted 

without reason or interest in Plaintiff’s financial health.  The “bounds of reason” would 

have dictated upon the discovery of Barnes’ embezzlement (and at a minimum): the 

immediate termination of Barnes, the retention of forensic accountants to investigate the 

extent of Plaintiff’s losses, and the retention of legal counsel to pursue immediate 

recourse and disgorgement from Barnes.  Defendants failed to take any of these essential 

and basic steps, and such failures go well beyond the admittedly rigorous standards for 

finding gross negligence and willful misconduct. 

•   Defendants who were board members hindered Tadlock’s efforts to investigate Barnes, 

ignored the fact that Barnes did not show up to meetings, and engaged in general 

obstruction that lasted for more than 18 months; Exhibit 2, at 28:3-19.  Defendants failed, 

for six (6) months after Barnes absconded, to approach the FBI.  Exhibit 3, at 5:24-25 

(emphasis added).   

Each and every one of these acts and failures to act exceed the burden of proof and 

standards for gross negligence and willful misconduct.  Defendants’ failures to perform their 

duties and ignorance of obvious danger signs also meet the “conscious disregard” standard for 

willfulness and constitute intentional acts, and satisfy both Graham prongs for director/officer 

liability.  A failure to act that extends to the level of “conscious disregard” can be deemed willful 

and deliberate – or, in other words, intentional.  See NRS 42.001(1) (conscious disregard means 

“the knowledge of the probable harmful consequences of a wrongful act and a willful and 
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deliberate failure to act to avoid those consequences”).  Defendants had knowledge of Barnes’ 

actual, not just “probable,” harmful acts and consequences, as they discovered their company 

was being looted, and Defendants did nothing to further avoid those consequences.8 

 For the multiple bases set forth above, Plaintiff’s complaint easily survives the Motion’s 

failure-to-plead contention.   
 
B. The Motion’s Second and Last Basis – that Plaintiff is a Revoked Entity that Lacks 

Standing to Sue Defendant – Also Fails  

 As an initial matter, it is ironic that the person responsible for the entity’s revoked status, 

on the basis of his gross negligence and breaches of his duties to the entity, is now claiming the 

entity’s revoked status bars it from pursuing him.  This position is, to be sure, untenable and 

preposterous.  Strangely, Defendant Burkhead argues that Plaintiff’s complaint should be stayed 

because Plaintiff’s revoked status deprives it of standing and, if the Receiver does not change 

that status after 30 days (or some other reasonable time period), Plaintiff’s complaint should be 

dismissed with prejudice.  Motion at 6 (emphasis added).  This is an awkward and draconian tact 

to take, given that an entity can be reinstated up to five (5) years after revocation.   

More importantly, it is inconsistent with Nevada law.  See NRS 86.274(5); AA Primo 

Builders, Ltd. Liab. Co., 126 Nev. at 588 (where the court held that a “revoked” LLC may “sue 

and be sued” in the same capacity as dissolved LLCs). Dissolved entities have two years after the 

articles of dissolution to bring known (at the time of dissolution) claims and three years for 

unknown claims.  NRS 86.505.  Accordingly, this timeframe applies to “revoked” entities and 

Defendant’s contention fails as a matter of law.   

 

/ / / 

                                                
8 Directors have been found to have oversight liability if the directors “utterly failed to 

implement any reporting or information system or controls” or “[having such] system or 
controls, consciously failed to monitor or oversee its operations thus disabling themselves from 
being informed of risks or problems requiring their attention.” Stone, 911 A.2d at 370 (internal 
citations omitted).  Here, we have Defendants with no controls and a conscious failure to 
monitor. 
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With all of that being said, if the Court is so inclined, Plaintiff will seek to alter its status 

during a stay of reasonable duration in this action.  What should not happen, of course, is a 

dismissal with prejudice, which is reserved for far different actions that lack evidentiary support.   

V. CONCLUSION  

For all the reasons and bases detailed above, Plaintiff respectfully requests that 

Defendant’s Motion should be denied in its entirety.  If the Court is inclined to grant the Motion, 

or any portion thereof, then Plaintiff will seek leave to amend the complaint.  See generally 

Footnote 7, supra.  

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
By: _/s/ Todd E. Kennedy_________ 
Todd E. Kennedy (NSB# 6014) 
BLACK & LOBELLO  
10777 West Twain Avenue, Suite 300 
tkennedy@blacklobellolaw.com  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
 
Attorneys for Receiver Timothy Mulliner, Esq., 
acting on behalf of Plaintiff Flamingo-Pecos 
Surgery Center LLC 
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Todd E. Kennedy (NSB# 6014) 
BLACK & LOBELLO  
10777 West Twain Avenue, Suite 300 
tkennedy@blacklobellolaw.com  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
 
Attorneys for Receiver Timothy Mulliner, Esq., acting on  
behalf of Plaintiff Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, 
LLC a Nevada limited liability company;  
 
                               Plaintiff, 
vs. 
 
William Smith MD, Pankaj Bhatnagar MD, 
Marjorie Belsky MD, Sheldon Freedman MD, 
Mathew Ng MD, Daniel Burkhead MD, 
Manager MD, DOE MANAGERS, 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 
BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 
 
                               Defendants. 

Case No.: A-17-750926-B 
Dept. No.: XV 
 
FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, 
LLC’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT 
SHELDON J. FREEDMAN’S MOTION TO 
DISMISS PURSUANT TO NRCP 12(b)(5) 
and 12(b)(6) and FOR ATTORNEYS FEES 
PURSUANT TO NRS 18.020  
 
Date: August 1, 2017 
Time: 9:00 AM 

Plaintiff Flamingo-Pecos Surgery Center, LLC (“Plaintiff”), through Todd E. Kennedy of 

the law firm of Black & LoBello as attorney for the Receiver Timothy Mulliner, Esq., hereby 

opposes Defendant Sheldon J. Freedman’s (“Defendant Freedman” or “Defendant”) Motion to 

Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) and 12(b)(6) and for Attorneys [sic] Fees Pursuant to NRS 

18.020 (collectively, “Motion”).  Defendant’s Motion is one of three filed in response to 

Plaintiff’s complaint, and this is the third and final opposition.1  

I.   SUMMARY2 

                                                
1 In order to avoid redundant/repetitive filings, this Opposition shall rely on and 

incorporate by reference Plaintiff’s Opposition to Dr. Matthew Ng and Dr. Pankaj Bhatnagar’s 
Motion to Dismiss (“Ng Opposition”) and the Declaration of Todd E. Kennedy (“Kennedy  
Decl.”) (and all four of the Exhibits thereto) filed with the Ng Opposition on Thursday, June 13, 
2017, and Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant Daniel Burkhead’s Motion to Dismiss Complaint 
filed on July 14, 2017 (“Burkhead Opposition”).  Footnote 2 contains portions of the summary 
identical to those in the Burkhead Opposition. 

2 Defendant and other defendants named in this action (collectively, “Defendants”) were 
practicing surgeons in a small group LLC which was robbed blind over several years by an 
 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
7/17/2017 11:06 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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The only new ground Defendant Freedman’s Motion covers – specifically, its contentions 

that defendants cannot be held accountable here under NRS Chapter 86, the operating agreement, 

and Nevada’s statute of limitations grounds, and its motion for attorneys’ fees – are each 

                                                                                                                                                       
unsupervised, do-it-all office manager Defendants hired and completely failed to supervise.  
Defendants’ failures exceed the gross negligence standard, the willful disregard standard of 
intentionality and, separately, constitute breaches of their fiduciary duties to Plaintiff.  In 
subsequent criminal proceedings the office manager, Robert Barnes, admitted to embezzling at 
least $1.3 million from Plaintiff while the Defendants – Plaintiff’s managers, directors and/or 
officers owing duties to Plaintiff – did nothing.  Not only did Defendants fail to supervise 
Barnes or timely uncover his looting, Defendants failed to immediately fire Barnes once they did 
discover it – instead, they allowed the criminal to remain in his position for a year after 
discovery. Eventually, and well after his criminal acts became known, Barnes was either fired or 
left on his own accord, with sufficient time, unsupervised access, and autonomy to abscond with 
the computer system, empty his office, and take all files associated with his looting. Defendants 
failed to perform an audit or even pursue Barnes on Plaintiff’s behalf, and failed to file a 
complaint against Barnes.  Shockingly, according to defendant Dr. Smith, it took Defendants six 
(6) months after Barnes absconded to approach the FBI.  As such, Defendants were grossly 
negligent and breached fiduciary duties they owed to Plaintiff as managers, directors, and/or 
officers, in allowing Plaintiff to be looted by Barnes’ operation over several years and doing 
nothing to protect Plaintiff’s interests upon discovery.  See attached as Exhibit 1 to the Ng 
Opposition and Kennedy Decl., the “Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case”, Document 41 in 
U.S. v. Robert W. Barnes, case no. 2:16-cr-00090-APG-GWF-1, at 14-15 (the “Amended 
Judgment”). 

Defendants failed to submit any claims on behalf of Plaintiff, the actual victim of Barnes’ 
criminal acts, despite knowing of Plaintiff’s insolvency and that its creditors remained unpaid 
and left in the cold.  Accordingly, Plaintiff is not listed as a recipient of assets forfeited by its 
former larcenous employee—that it alone is entitled to.  Even worse, the list evidences 
Defendants’ naked self-interest:  

Dr. Daniel Burkhead/Burkhead Irrevocable Trust was awarded $39,587.89 
Defendant Bhatnagar/Bhatnagar Family Trust was awarded $81,187.89  
Defendant Ng was awarded $31,787.89  
Dr. William Smith was awarded $126,687.89  
Dr. Sheldon Freedman was awarded $61,287.89 

Id. Defendants’ latest intentional breaches of their fiduciary duties to Plaintiff are evidenced—in 
writing—within the Restitution List attached to the U.S. District Court for the District of 
Nevada’s March 28, 2017 Amended Judgment in Barnes’ criminal case.  As such, Defendants 
not only ignored and grossly failed to protect Plaintiff’s interests, Defendants intentionally 
usurped those interests in favor of their own, by allowing the substitution of their own personal 
self-interest over Plaintiff’s.  In other words, Defendants were personally enriched by their 
disregard of their affirmative duties to Plaintiff.  Defendants also plainly violated the letter of 
Nevada law against distributions of LLC funds where the LLC is insolvent.  See NRS 86.343.  
As evidenced by Exhibit 1 to Defendant Burkhead’s Motion (entity information from the Nevada 
Secretary of State), Defendants plainly continue to violate multiple provisions of Chapter 86, 
including, inter alia, the failure to properly dissolve Plaintiff and to maintain a registered agent.  
Moreover, Defendants’ improper distributions could also be categorized as fraudulent transfers 
of corporate assets.  See NRS Chapter 112.  There is also evidence that Defendants intentionally 
and actively prevented an investigation into Barnes’ embezzlement by other managers and/or 
directors. 
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disposed of by the complaint’s assertions and the evidence, and by Nevada law – when it is 

properly read.  

Defendant first plainly misreads NRS 86.381 (Motion at p. 7:4-7); the statute the Motion 

relies on actually allows for the defendants to be proper parties “when they owe a liability to the 

company.” That is exactly what Plaintiff’s complaint claims: defendants are liable to Plaintiff for 

a list of actions and failures to act, including, inter alia, allowing Plaintiff to be looted and doing 

nothing despite knowing of the looting.  Moreover, appointment of the receiver here is fully 

consistent with and appropriate under NRS 32.010, which provides for appointment of a receiver 

in aid of a judgment.  Defendant also plainly misreads NRS 86.391 (Motion at 7:8-14),3 and 

ignores the fact that while NRS 86.391 imposes liability for certain specified claims, it does not 

limit liability to those claims alone.   

Defendant’s arguments based on the Operating Agreement rely on Defendant (again) 

misreading Section 3.4, which references only liabilities of the company, not the defendants, as 

the Motion claims, and misreading Section 7.8, which excludes indemnification for the “gross 

negligence or willful misconduct” of members.4  

The statute of limitations argument is even more futile and nonsensical. First, Defendant 

seems to argue that the statute runs before a cause of action exists.  Motion at 8:18-21; 9:4-7.  

Defendant also argues that now:  

<> after hiring the looter as an office manager and giving him carte blanche over 
Plaintiff’s finances;  

<> after allowing Plaintiff to be looted for several years;  
<> after failing to supervise or manage the looter in any capacity;  
<> after ignoring disastrous warning signs (including but not limited to the looter 

office manager failing to issue reports for 18 months); 
<> after doing nothing to stop Plaintiff from being looted;  
<> after doing nothing to protect Plaintiff’s rights after the looting was discovered; 
<> after failing to terminate the looter immediately after discovery of his 

embezzlement of millions from Plaintiff;   
                                                

3 See Section IV(A), infra (addressing where the Motion argues on the basis of an “only” 
in the statute where there is no such “only”, and for a position that does not exist).   

4 See Section IV(B), infra. 
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<> after allowing the looter to linger in his same position with Plaintiff for at least 
several months or to a new calendar year, and remain in control of Plaintiff’s 
finances after discovery;   

<> after failing to restrict the looter in any way after discovering his embezzlement;   
<> after failing to set up IT protections and preserve the files of the looter’s actions;  
<> after failing to conduct an audit or investigation into the looter’s crimes; 
<> after allowing the looter to abscond with all the files and the computer system 

associated with his crimes;  
<> after failing to hire the necessary professionals to address and mitigate the 

looter’s crimes; 
<> after dithering about for several months after the looter absconded before even 

approaching the FBI;  
<> after failing to file even a civil action against the looter on behalf of the entity;  
<> after allowing years to pass with little or no vigilance in the interests of the 

company;  
<> after dropping Plaintiff into a bankruptcy that was ultimately dismissed; 
<> after abandoning Plaintiff and leaving only an insolvent shell, to the obvious 

detriment of Plaintiff and its creditors; 
<> after intentionally and/or incompetently failing to protect Plaintiff’s interests in 

the looter’s criminal forfeiture and restitution matter (by failing to file any claims 
on Plaintiff’s behalf); and, indeed,  

<> after intentionally usurping Plaintiff’s interests by allowing personal awards to 
defendants directly to be issued in the criminal case’s Amended Judgment; 
allowing the awards to stand and not informing the Federal Government or the 
U.S. District Court; and not appealing the Amended Judgement and Restitution 
List therein (all of which occurred in 2017);  

it is too late for Plaintiff to sue the responsible managers, directors, and/or officers responsible 

for these very same acts and failures to act because they were in command of Plaintiff while 

the statute was running.  This position is preposterous and antithetical to Nevada law on 

excusable delay and equitable tolling – and common sense.  

 Defendant’s Motion continues on in its lack-of-standing contention to – again – misread 

and ignore obvious bases for Plaintiff’s claims.  See Section IV(D), infra (discussing the 

Receivership Order’s explicit authorization for the Receiver’s present complaint against 

Flamingo’s directors and officers).   

Remarkably, Defendant Freedman’s final effort, the Motion for Attorneys [sic] Fees 

Pursuant to NRS 18.020 (“Fees Motion”), may be the most lacking and baseless of Defendant’s 
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contentions.  The Fees Motion requires that a complaint have “no reasonable grounds” and 

allegations “which are not supported by any credible evidence at trial.”  Motion at 13:2-10 

(citing various Nevada precedent) (internal citations omitted).  The “no reasonable grounds” and 

“any credible evidence” stance is futile against the complaint’s assertions and all the evidence 

here, including, inter alia, the sworn testimony of multiple managing members and controlling 

directors (Drs. Smith and Tadlock), and waves of evidence (including party admissions) from 

both criminal proceedings before the U.S. District Court for the District of Nevada, and multiple 

bankruptcy proceedings before the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Nevada.  In the end, 

Defendant Freedman’s Fees Motion and the overall Motion utterly fail, and the rigorous 

standards required for dismissal are not met.5 

II. FACTS 
 

A. The Complaint and the Facts Establish that Defendants Hired Office Manager 
Robert Barnes, Who Looted Plaintiff Over Several Years While Defendants Were 
Grossly Negligent and Willfully/Intentionally Ignored His Actions and Their 
Obligations to Plaintiff  

Plaintiff has conducted business for many years as an entity controlled by a group of 

surgeons practicing in Clark County, Nevada, including at an ambulatory surgery center located 

at 10195 West Twain Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 89147. Complaint at ¶ 19.  Defendants hired 

Barnes in 2006 to be Plaintiff’s office manager, and his functions extended to Plaintiff’s “full 

financial workings, accounts, and books.”  Id. at ¶¶ 21-22.  Defendants failed to conduct the 

necessary due diligence regarding Barnes and negligently hired Barnes – placing a criminal in a 

                                                
5 If the Court is inclined to grant any portion of the Motion, Plaintiff shall seek leave to 

amend, which should only be denied if the proposed amendment would be futile, and which 
should be “freely given when justice so requires.”  Halcrow, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 
129 Nev. Adv. Rep. 42, 302 P.3d 1148, 1152, citing NRCP 15(a).  

That is not the case here, considering the overwhelming evidence of just Defendants’ 
intentional breaches of their fiduciary duties to Plaintiff and Defendants’ improper distributions 
and other violations of NRS Chapter 86.  To be sure, with the surfacing of new evidence recently 
(e.g., Defendant’s Motion attaches the relevant Operating Agreement), Plaintiff intends to move 
to amend the complaint in any event to incorporate additional causes of action, including, 
without limitation, breach of contract, improper distributions and unjust enrichment. 
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position to easily steal from Plaintiff.  Id. at ¶¶ 23-24.  Barnes admitted in subsequent criminal 

proceedings that he embezzled at least $1.3 million during the course of his crime spree over 

many years.  Id. at ¶ 28.    

Managing Member Charles H. Tadlock testified under oath that Barnes’ hiring was a 

majority decision by the surgeons.  See attached to the Kennedy Decl. as Exhibit 2 a relevant 

portion of Charles H. Tadlock’s January 19, 2016 Rule 2004 Examination Transcript, at 19:11-

17; 24:6-8. The “entire group” talked to Barnes about coming to work for them.  Id. at 23:22-

24:2; 24:22-25:2, and everyone had an equal say.  Id. at 24:3-5.   

Individually and collectively, Defendants failed to supervise, oversee and/or monitor 

Barnes for many years during his crime spree, allowing him to formulate and execute a pattern of 

criminal embezzlement and theft from Plaintiff – resulting in substantial damages to and against 

Plaintiff.  Complaint at ¶¶ 25-28.  The warning signs were abundant and sustained: Barnes was 

“not forthcoming” with the [financial] reports for 18 months to two years.  Exhibit 2, at 27:17-

20.  Defendants did nothing to safeguard Plaintiff’s interests and indeed actively sought to 

stymie any effort to keep tabs on Barnes.  As the complaint alleges, Defendants “omitted” and 

“grossly neglected” their duties to Plaintiff as managers, directors and officers with respect to 

Barnes for many years.  Complaint at ¶ 27 (emphasis added).  
   
B. Upon Discovering Barnes’ Embezzlement and Theft, Defendants Failed to Take 

Action to Protect Plaintiff, Intentionally Hindered Any Oversight of Barnes, and 
Allowed Barnes to Remain in His Position and Remove Files and a Computer 
System When He Decided to Abscond 

Upon discovering Barnes’ embezzlement, Defendants failed to appropriately audit, 

investigate, and determine the extent of Barnes’ crimes, resulting in substantial damages against 

Plaintiff.  Id. at ¶ 32.  Moreover, Defendants individually and collectively “ignored and failed to 

adhere to their responsibilities and obligations to Plaintiff.”  Id. at ¶ 33 (emphasis added).  Dr. 

William Smith admitted that nothing was done to safeguard Plaintiff’s interests after Barnes’ 

embezzlement was discovered in 2012 – indeed, Barnes was not even fired until 2013.  See 

attached to the Kennedy Decl. as Exhibit 3 a relevant portion of William D. Smith’s July 15, 

AA000316



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS AND FOR FEES 
7 of 23 

2015 Rule 341 Meeting Transcript (second meeting), at 5-9.  Defendants failed to hire a forensic 

accountant or other professionals to conduct an internal investigation.  Id. Tadlock testified that 

Barnes just left and was not fired – and that Barnes took the computer system and all the records.  

See attached to the Kennedy Decl. as Exhibit 4 a relevant portion of Charles H. Tadlock’s 

September 10, 2015 Rule 341 Meeting Transcript, at 22:1-15.  It took Defendants six (6) months 

after Barnes absconded to approach the FBI.  Exhibit 3, at 5:24-25.   

C. Not Only Did Defendants Fail to Take Any Actions to Protect Plaintiff’s Interests, 
but defendants on the Board of Directors Intentionally Interfered with a Managing 
Member’s Efforts to Investigate Barnes’ Embezzlement  

 The complaint asserts that defendants ignored and failed to adhere to their responsibilities 

and obligations to Plaintiff, and failed to protect and preserve Plaintiff’s assets, funding and 

interests.  Id. at ¶ 33.  They failed to demand that Barnes return Plaintiff’s funds and assets, 

failed to pursue Barnes, and failed to even file a complaint against Barnes.   Id. at ¶ 35.  

Moreover, defendants intentionally prevented others from satisfying their fiduciary duties 

to Plaintiff: Tadlock testified that directors screamed at Tadlock when he attempted to get Barnes 

to attend meetings and discuss Barnes’ embezzlement (Exhibit 2, at 28:2-15), and they “were 

shouting at [Tadlock] to leave [Barnes] alone” when Tadlock raised the issue of Barnes’ 

performance. Id. at 28:12-15.  Defendants who were board members hindered Tadlock’s efforts 

to investigate Barnes, ignored the fact that Barnes did not show up to meetings, and engaged in 

general obstruction that lasted for more than 18 months.  Id. at 28:3-19. 
   
D. After Allowing Plaintiff to be Gutted Over Several Years and Doing Nothing, 

Defendants Intentionally Failed to Advocate For and Protect Plaintiff’s Interests in 
Barnes’ Restitution Action and Were Personally Enriched by Further Breaching of 
their Fiduciary Duties to Plaintiff  

 The complaint alleges that:  
 
 Defendants individually and collectively breached Defendants’ fiduciary duty of 

care to Plaintiff by, among other things, failing to: (a) oversee, supervise, monitor 
and discipline Plaintiff’s Office Manager, who was embezzling and stealing from 
Plaintiff; (b) supervise, care for, monitor or review Plaintiff’s books, accounts, 
and finances while Barnes was Plaintiff’s Office Manager; (c) expeditiously 
remove Barnes from the position of Plaintiff’s Office Manager upon the discovery 
of Barnes’ embezzlement and theft; (d) audit, investigate and/or determine the 
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extent of Barnes’ embezzlement and theft; (e) pursue Barnes on behalf of Plaintiff 
in order to recover Plaintiff’s assets, funding and interests from Barnes; and (f) 
take appropriate, reasonable and necessary steps to protect Plaintiff’s interests vis-
à-vis Barnes and certain Defendants.  Complaint at ¶ 53.  

In sum, Defendants did nothing with respect to Barnes – there was no audit, no investigation, 

and no efforts to recover Plaintiff’s assets from the criminal office manager.  Defendants 

compounded this failure by intentionally acting to personally benefit from their breaches of 

duties to Plaintiff.  Despite having notice from the U.S. District Court for the District of Nevada 

(Exhibit 1, at 8-10), Defendants failed to submit any claims on behalf of Plaintiff, despite 

knowing Plaintiff was the actual victim, and of Plaintiff’s insolvency and that Plaintiff’s 

creditors remained unpaid and left in the cold.  The Restitution List contains no claim on behalf 

of Plaintiff – but does contain claims reflecting Defendants’ naked self-interest:  
 
Defendant Bhatnagar/Bhatnagar Family Trust was awarded $81,187.89  
Defendant Ng was awarded $31,787.89  
Dr. William Smith was awarded $126,687.89  
Dr. Sheldon Freedman was awarded $61,287.89 
Dr. Daniel Burkhead/Burkhead Irrevocable Trust was awarded $39,587.89  

Id. at 14-15. The Restitution List identifies substantial sums awarded to, among others, the 

defendant surgeons named in this action – sums rightfully belonging to Plaintiff – at a time when 

Defendants knew Plaintiff was a gutted, post-failed-bankruptcy shell incapable of satisfying its 

obligations to its creditors.  Defendants also plainly violated the letter of Nevada law against 

distributions of LLC funds where the LLC is insolvent.  See NRS 86.343.  

III. LEGAL STANDARDS 

A. The Rigorous Standards for a Rule 12(b)(5) Motion 

When deciding a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the court “must construe 

the pleadings liberally and accept all factual allegations in the complaint as true,” drawing every 

fair inference in favor of the non-moving party.  Blackjack Bonding v. Las Vegas Mun. Ct., 116 

Nev. 1213, 1217 (2000), citing Simpson v. Mars Inc., 113 Nev. 188, 190 (1997).  It thus is not 

enough to say the complaint is wrong; the moving defendant must show beyond a doubt that the 

plaintiff could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief.  Buzz Stew, LLC v. 
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City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228 (2008).  This is, as the Nevada Supreme Court has 

noted, a “rigorous standard of review.”  Id.; see also Hampe v. Foote, 118 Nev. 405, 408 (2002). 
 
B. NRS 86.381 and NRS 86.391 – A Member’s Liability and Place as a Proper Party to 

Proceedings by the Company  

  Under NRS 86.381, a member of an LLC can be sued by the company, and can be a 

proper party “when they owe a liability to the company.”  Moreover, NRS 86.391 imposes 

liability for certain specified claims, and does not limit members’ liability.   

C. Gross Negligence and Willful/Conscious Disregard  

 In Nevada, gross negligence is “very great negligence, or absence of slight diligence, or 

the want of even scant care.”  Johns v. McAlteer, 85 Nev. 477, 481 (1969).  Similarly, in 

Delaware gross negligence is conduct that constitutes reckless indifference or actions that are 

without the bounds of reason.  McPadden v. Sidhu, 964 A.2d 1262 (Del. Ch. 2008).  

A failure to act that extends to the level of “conscious disregard” can be deemed willful 

and deliberate – or, in other words, intentional.  See NRS 42.001(1) (conscious disregard means 

“the knowledge of the probable harmful consequences of a wrongful act and a willful and 

deliberate failure to act to avoid those consequences”).  Directors can be liable for refusing or 

neglecting cavalierly to perform their duty as a director, or for ignoring either willfully or 

“through inattention obvious danger signs of employee wrongdoing” Graham v. Allis-Chalmers 

Manufacturing Co., 188 A.2d 125, 130 (Del. 1963); Stone v. Ritter, 911 A.2d 362, 369 (Del. 

2006).  Meeting this standard triggers the Operating Agreement here in Plaintiff’s favor (in that 

Defendants must face the consequences of, and cannot be indemnified for, their gross negligence 

and willful misconduct).   

D. Statute of Limitations  

 Under Nevada law, “A statute of limitations requires a lawsuit to be filed within a 

specified period of time after a legal right has been violated.”  FDIC v. Jones, No. 2-13-cv-168-

JAD-GWF, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 131738 (D. Nev. Sep. 19, 2014) citing McDonald v. Sun Oil 

Co., 548 F.3d 774, 779 (9th Cir. 2008).  Typically, a claim accrues "when the plaintiff has a 
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complete and present cause of action."  Id. at 12-13; citing Wallace v. Kato, 549 U.S. 384, 388, 

127 S. Ct. 1091, 166 L. Ed. 2d 973 (2007); see also Black's Law Dictionary 23 (9th ed. 

2009)("accrue" means "[t]o come into existence as an enforceable claim or right.").  The 

common understanding is that statutes of limitation are personal defenses, subject to waiver, 

estoppel and equitable tolling exceptions.  Johnson v. Lucent Technologies Inc., 653 F.3d 100, 

1009 (9th Cir. 2011).  “Except where by statue limitations do not begin to run until knowledge of 

the cause of action is acquired by the person in whom the cause of action lies, and except where 

that has been fraudulent concealment of the cause of action by the person liable…the rule is 

generally established that mere ignorance of the existence of the cause of action or of the facts 

which constitute the cause will not postpone the operation of the statute of limitations; the statute 

runs from the time the cause of action first accrues notwithstanding such ignorance, if the facts 

may be ascertained by inquiry or diligence, or if the ignorance is not willful and does not result 

from negligence or lack of diligence.  Sierra Pac. Power Co. v. Nye, 80 Nev. 88, 94-95 (1964) 

(emphasis added).  Likewise, equitable tolling of a statute of limitations “when the interest of 

justice require” is also always available.  State Dept. of Taxation v. Masco Builder Cabinet 

Group, 127 Nev. 730, 739 (2011).  

E. The Economic Loss Doctrine – And Its Exceptions 

 The Economic Loss Doctrine (“ELD”) “arose, in large part, from the development of 

products liability jurisprudence.”  Calloway v. City of Reno, 116 Nev. 250, 257 (2000) (Calloway 

II) (superseded, in part, by statue as stated in Olson v. Richard, 120 Nev. 240 (2004)).  The 

doctrine generally bars “unintentional tort actions” seeking recovery for “purely economic 

losses.”  Terracon Consultants Western, Inc. v. Mandalay Resort Group, 125 Nev. 66, 72 (2009) 

citing Local Joint Exec. Bd. v. Stern, 98 Nev. 409, 411 (1982).  

 The ELD is not an iron-clad rule, nor is it meant to be.  Terracon contemplated allowing 

exceptions to the ELD in certain categories of negligence cases against “attorneys, accountants, 

real estate professionals, and insurance brokers.”  Id. at 75 (internal citations omitted).  Even 

third parties may be successful with negligent supervision and management claims against 
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directors and officers in cases involving purely economic loss.  Sergeants Benevolent Ass’n 

Annuity Fund v. Renck, 796 N.Y.S.2d 77, 80-81 (N.Y. App. Div. 2005); Keams v. Tempe Tech. 

Inst., Inc., 993 F.Supp. 714, 724-26 (D. Ariz. 1997).   

The ELD also does not bar claims “where the defendant had a duty imposed by law rather 

than by contract and where the defendant’s intentional breach of that duty caused purely 

monetary harm to the plaintiff.”  Giles v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 494 F.3d 865, 879 

(9th Cir. 2007).  Notably, causes of action for intentional tort are not precluded under the ELD, so 

long as the supporting facts are pled.  Calloway II, at 267 (internal citations omitted); Terracon, 

125 Nev. at 73 citing Stern, at 411(in the context of intentional interference allowing for the 

recovery of purely economic losses).   

Exceptions can also be appropriate where “strong countervailing considerations weigh in 

favor of imposing liability.”  Barber Lines A/S v. M/V Donau Maru 764 F.2d 50,56 (1st Cir. 

1985).  As such, policy considerations are important.  The Nevada Supreme Court believes 

analysis of the ELD should examine “the relevant policies in order to ascertain the proper 

boundary between the distinct civil law duties that exist separately in contract and tort.”  

Calloway II, 116 Nev. at 261 n. 3.  The Court enforced the ELD in Calloway II to prevent 

creating a “general, societally imposed duty [upon builders] to avoid such losses.”  Id.    

F. The High Bar for a Granting of Attorney’s Fees  

 To prevail on a motion for attorney’s fees, there “must be evidence in the record 

supporting the proposition that the complaint was brought without reasonable grounds or to 

harass the other party.” Semenza v. Caughlin Crafted Homes, 111 Nev. 1089, 1095 (1995), citing 

Chowdhry v. NLVH, Inc., 109 Nev. 478, 486 (1993).  The Nevada Supreme Court has held that a 

claim is groundless if the complaint contains allegations which are not supported by any credible 

evidence at trial.  Bergmann v. Boyce, 109 Nev. 670, 674 (1993).  Such motions should be 

assessed by determining whether the plaintiff had reasonable grounds for its claims.  Id. at 675.   

 

/ / / 
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IV. ARGUMENT 
 

A. The Motion’s Multiple NRS Chapter 86 Arguments Fail Immediately For 
Defendant’s Plain Misreading of NRS 86.381 and NRS 86.391’s Actual Language, 
and Ignorance of NRS Chapter 32 and Case Law  

 The Motion contends that Plaintiff’s complaint violates NRS 86.371 because it 

supposedly seeks to hold the members of Plaintiff liable for “the debts or liabilities of the 

company.”  Motion at 7:1-7.   

 However, NRS 86.381 provides that a member of an LLC can be sued by the company 

for their liability to the company – which is precisely what Plaintiff’s complaint seeks to do here 

(see, e.g., complaint’s fourth cause of action regarding defendants’ breaches of their fiduciary 

duties owed to Plaintiff).  The fact that the company has a judgment that may ultimately be 

satisfied in part through its recovery in this case is not only immaterial for Chapter 86; it is fully 

consistent with NRS 32.010, which provides for appointment of a receiver in aid of a judgment. 

 The Motion further contends that NRS 86.391 “only” allows an LLC to sue its members 

for a deficiency in their capital contribution.  Motion at 7:8-14.  Defendant Freedman again 

misreads the statute.  The word “only” does not appear in the statute.  In fact, NRS 

86.391 imposes liability for certain specified claims; it does not limit liability.  The waiver 

provisions cited in the Motion permits a waiver of the statutorily-imposed liability; it does not 

require a waiver for other causes of action to proceed. 

 Finally, insofar as the Motion argues that defendants (including Defendant Freedman) 

owe no duties to and cannot be pursued for the benefit of the company’s creditors, they are 

wrong, again.  Such a duty exists if the corporation is insolvent.  See Summit Growth Mgmt., 

LLC v. Marek, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 73389 at 20-21, citing JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. 

K.B. Home, 632 F.Supp.2d 1013, 1026 (D. Nev. 2009) (internal citations omitted).  Here, 

defendants have known for years – and especially when Barnes’ embezzlement was discovered – 

of Plaintiff’s insolvency.  In fact, defendants placed Plaintiff into an ill-fated chapter 11 

bankruptcy and ultimately abandoned the entity as a gutted, insolvent mess once that bankruptcy 

petition was dismissed (indeed, defendants’ very abandonment separately violated Nevada’s 
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procedures for the proper dissolution of a Nevada LLC under Chapter 86).  There is no doubt 

that defendants owe duties to Plaintiff and to Plaintiff’s creditors.  
 
B. The Motion’s Contentions Regarding the Operating Agreement Fail for Misreading 

(Again) that Agreement; More Importantly, Plaintiff’s Gross Negligence and Willful 
Misconduct Claims Are Allowed Under the Operating Agreement and Deprive 
Defendant of Its Indemnification Protections   

The Motion argues Section 3.4 of the Operating Agreement bars personal liability of 

Plaintiff’s members, “[e]xcept to the extent otherwise provided by law” as to “liabilities or 

obligations” of the Company; thus, they cannot have any obligations to Plaintiff.  Motion at 

7:27-8:6. This is yet another misread – this time of the relevant agreement, versus a relevant 

statute.  In fact, Section 3.4 references only the liabilities of the company; its plain language 

makes no provision for members to escape their liabilities to the company.  There is no reason 

for the Court to interpolate words the signatories to the Operating Agreement elect to leave out.  

Even if it did, the prefatory clause “Except to the extent otherwise provided by law” would plain 

allow causes of action permitted at law, including, inter alia, negligence and gross negligence, as 

alleged in the complaint. 

Defendant Freedman’s Motion further argues that Section 7.8 of the Operating 

Agreement would require Plaintiff to indemnify the defendants as members for their defense and 

any judgment, thus making the entire case “an exercise in futility.”  8:8-14.  As argued in prior 

oppositions, Plaintiff’s complaint has sufficiently pled, and the facts support, Defendants’ gross 

negligence and willful misconduct – including in explicit and detailed terms:  
•   “Individually and collectively, Defendants omitted and grossly neglected their duties to 

Plaintiff as managers, directors and officers with respect to Barnes for many years, 
resulting in substantial damages to and against Plaintiff.”  Complaint at ¶ 27 (emphasis 
added). Here, the complaint explicitly defeats the Motion.  Defendants’ utter avoidance 
of their duties allowed Barnes to formulate and execute a pattern of criminal 
embezzlement and theft from Plaintiff. Additionally, Defendants individually and 
collectively “ignored and failed to adhere to their responsibilities and obligations to 
Plaintiff”; Id. at ¶ 33 (emphasis added).   

•   Barnes was “not forthcoming” with [financial] reports 18 months to two years (Exhibit 2 
at 27:17-20) and avoided appearing at meetings – “obvious danger signs of employee 
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wrongdoing” under Graham – that Defendants willfully ignored during their refusal to 
perform their duties to Plaintiff.  In the parlance of Sidhu, these actions are very far 
outside the “bounds of reason.”  In other words, it is profoundly irrational to do nothing 
in the face of the head of finance – who’s in charge of the entity’s entire financial 
wellbeing — ignoring his duties for well over a year.  Amazingly, these actions and 
failures to act are not even the most outrageous and irrational components of Defendants’ 
gross negligence and willful misconduct.   

•   “Upon discovering Barnes’ embezzlement and theft, Defendants individually and 
collectively failed – for an unreasonably lengthy period of time – to remove Barnes 
from his position…,” Id. at ¶ 31) (emphasis added).  Defendant Dr. William Smith 
testified that nothing was done to safeguard Plaintiff’s interests after Barnes’ 
embezzlement was discovered in 2012 – indeed, Barnes was not even fired until 2013.  
See Exhibit 3, at 5-9.  These facts may indeed be the most outrageous and most powerful 
evidence of Defendants’ gross negligence and willful misconduct. All three components 
of McAlteer are met in spectacular fashion: Defendants committed “very great 
negligence,” showed absolutely no diligence, and failed to manifest even “scant care” by 
allowing the criminal who stole millions and bankrupted their company to continue in the 
same position.  

•   Defendants failed to hire a forensic accountant or other professionals to conduct an 
internal investigation.  Exhibit 3, at 5-9.  Defendants failed to demand that Barnes return 
Plaintiff’s funds and assets, they failed to pursue Barnes, and they failed to even file a 
complaint against Barnes. Id. at ¶ 35.  Critically, upon discovering his crimes, 
Defendants failed to address Barnes’ continued controls of Plaintiff’s finances for several 
months.  Defendants failed to implement and/or enforce IT protections and record 
retention policies after Barnes’ crimes were discovered.  Barnes simply left the next 
calendar year, taking with him the computer system and all of the records and emptying 
out his office; See Exhibit 4, at 22:1-15.  These actions and failures to act reflect 
Defendants’ reckless indifference and “want of even scant care.”  Here, Defendants acted 
with no rational basis.  The “bounds of reason” would have dictated, upon the discovery 
of Barnes’ embezzlement, the immediate termination of Barnes, the retention of forensic 
accountants to investigate the extent of Plaintiff’s losses, and the retention of legal 
counsel to pursue immediate recourse and disgorgement from Barnes.  Defendants failed 
to take any of these essential and basic steps, and such failures go well beyond the 
admittedly rigorous standards for finding gross negligence and willful misconduct. 

•   Defendants who were board members hindered Tadlock’s efforts to investigate Barnes, 
ignored the fact that Barnes did not show up to meetings, and engaged in general 
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obstruction that lasted for more than 18 months; Exhibit 2, at 28:3-19.  Defendants failed, 
for six (6) months after Barnes absconded, to approach the FBI.  Exhibit 3, at 5:24-25 
(emphasis added).   

Each and every one of these acts and failures to act exceed the burden of proof and 

standards for gross negligence and willful misconduct.  Plaintiff’s complaint thus easily survives 

the Motion’s contentions regarding the Operating Agreement and Defendant Freedman’s chronic 

misreading of that Agreement, and pleads gross negligence and willful misconduct sufficiently to 

deprive defendants of the indemnification protections of the Operating Agreement.    
   
C. The Motion’s Nonsensical Statute of Limitations Arguments Fail As a Matter of 

Nevada Law, Common Law Equitable Principles, and Common Sense  

 The Motion alleges the 2-year statute of limitations on most negligence claims (NRS 

11.190(4)(e)) bars negligent hiring claims because Barnes was hired in 2006; the complaint was 

filed in 2017, and that was more than 2 years after 2006.  Motion at 8:18-21.  This is 

nonsensical.  By this argument, a claim for negligent hiring was time-barred as of 2008; but no 

cause of action accrued until the embezzlement began, which the Motion alleges was not until 

2010. Id. at 9:4-7.  The statute cannot run out before a cause of action exists. 

 The Motion further alleges the other claims are barred by limitation and contends 

“Plaintiff is clearly aware of the statute of limitations issue as its [sic] refused to provide and 

specificity as to when the alleged acts occurred instead using [sic] the phrase ‘for many years’.”  

Says that the latest the cause of action could have accrued was 2013, the year referenced in the 

Barnes plea agreement; asserts there “is no mechanism in which [sic] this Complaint can be 

considered timely” for any claim of negligence. Id. at 8:22-9:11. 

Defendants controlled Plaintiff until the appointment of the Receiver; thus, any delay in 

bringing the company’s claims against them prior to the creation of the Receivership is 

attributable to them and should equitably toll the statute.  See Donell v. Mojtahedian, 976 F. 

Supp. 2d 1183 (C.D. Cal. 2013).   Plaintiff was so dominated by defendants who would never 

bring claims against themselves (and who allowed it to be gutted over several years and failed to 

take action on Barnes’ acts for several months, if not years), that there was no way the entity 
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could realistically bring an action prior to an independent receiver being appointed.  This 

position is supported by Nevada law, which allows for tolling where there has been “fraudulent 

concealment of the cause of action.” Sierra Pac. Power Co. v. Nye, 80 Nev. 88, 94-95 (1964) 

(which would not allow tolling where the ignorance is not willful and does not result from 

negligence or lack of diligence). Here, Defendants both concealed (by obstructing any 

investigation) and did nothing about causes of action against Barnes and themselves, 

fraudulently, and they also demonstrated willful ignorance and gross negligence, as alleged by 

the complaint and supported by the facts:  
<> Defendants hired the looter as an office manager and gave him carte blanch over 

Plaintiff’s finances;  
<> Defendants allowed Plaintiff to be looted for several years;  
<> Defendants failed to supervise or manage the looter in any capacity;  
<> Defendants ignored disastrous warning signs (including but not limited to the 

looter office manager failing to issue reports for 18 months); 
<> Defendants did nothing to stop Plaintiff from being looted;  
<> Defendants did nothing to protect Plaintiff’s rights after discovering the looting;  
<> Defendants failed to terminate the looter after discovering his embezzlement of 

millions from Plaintiff;   
<> Defendants allowed the looter to linger in his same position with Plaintiff, and to 

remain in control of Plaintiff’s finances, for at least several months or to a new 
calendar year after discovering his crimes;   

<> Defendants failed to restrict the looter in any way after discovery;  
<> Defendants failed to set up IT protections and preserve the records of the looter’s 

actions;  
<> Defendants failed to conduct an audit or investigation into the looter’s crimes; 
<> Defendants allowed the looter to abscond with all the files and the computer 

system associated with his crimes;  
<> Defendants failed to hire the necessary professionals to address and mitigate the 

looter’s crimes; 
<> Defendants dithered about for several months after the looter absconded before 

even approaching the FBI;  
<> Defendants failed to file even a civil action against the looter on behalf of the 

entity;  
<> Defendants allowed years to pass with little or no vigilance for the benefit of the 

entity;  
<> Defendants dropped Plaintiff into a bankruptcy that was ultimately dismissed; 
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<> Defendants abandoned Plaintiff and left only an insolvent shell, to the obvious 
detriment of Plaintiff and its creditors; 

<> Defendants intentionally and/or incompetently failed to protect Plaintiff’s 
interests in the looter’s criminal forfeiture and restitution matter (by failing to file 
any claims on Plaintiff’s behalf); and, indeed,  

<> Defendants intentionally usurped Plaintiff’s interests by allowing personal awards 
to defendants directly to be issued in the Amended Judgment; allowed the awards 
to stand and did not inform the Federal Government or the U.S. District Court; 
and did not appeal the Amended Judgment and the Restitution List therein.  

Defendant’s argument that Plaintiff is now time-barred from pursuing defendants – who were the 

very source of the delays – is an attack on Nevada law, principles of equity, and common sense.  

In the words of the Nevada Supreme Court in Masco, the “interest of justice” requires equitable 

tolling here.  Masco, 127 Nev. at 739.  
 
D. The Motion’s Standing Argument Fails – Quickly – Upon A Cursory Review of the 

Receivership Order, Which Defendant Both Misreads and Ignores   

The Motion contends that Plaintiff’s complaint should have been brought in the name of 

the Receiver, as opposed to the company, alleges that there are no provisions for him to bring 

suit against the members of the company, and argues the Receiver should have obtained specific 

permission to sue. Motion at 10:1-15.  If nothing else, Defendant’s misreading and ignoring of 

clear bases for Plaintiff’s claims are consistent and omnipresent throughout the Motion. 

The Receiver did bring Plaintiff’s complaint.  Moreover, Section A(3) of the Receiver’s 

Appointment Order (see A-16-733627-B, entered on September 13, 2016, at 3:4-5), specifically 

directs the Receiver to: “Pursue Flamingo’s claims and causes of action against third 

parties, including but not limited to Flamingo’s directors and officers.” (emphasis added). 

 Section B(5) allows him to institute legal actions and Section B(7) authorizes him to bring and 

prosecute actions “for the collection of debts owed to Flamingo” and “recovery of the 

Receivership Property.”  The Receiver has standing plainly based on the terms of the 

Receivership Order issued by the court, and Defendant Freedman’s contention here fails badly.  
  

E. The Motion’s Blanket ELD Argument Fails for Ignoring Established Exceptions, 
Defendants’ Intentional Conduct, and the Policy Considerations Relevant to the 
case-by-case application of the ELD 
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1. The Motion’s Scant ELD Argument Ignores the Exceptions to the ELD   

The Nevada Supreme Court explicitly contemplated in Terracon allowing exceptions to 

the ELD in certain categories of negligence cases against “attorneys, accountants, real estate 

professionals, and insurance brokers.” Id. at 75 (internal citations omitted).  Indeed, even third 

parties may be successful with negligent supervision and management claims against directors 

and officers in cases involving purely economic loss.  Sergeants Benevolent Ass’n Annuity Fund 

v. Renck, 796 N.Y.S.2d 77, 80-81 (N.Y. App. Div. 2005); Keams v. Tempe Tech. Inst., Inc., 993 

F.Supp. 714, 724-26.  In Sergeants, the court found a cognizable claim against an investment 

firm’s officers for their alleged mismanagement regarding investment advice and negligent 

supervision of a portfolio manager.  Sergeants, 796 N.Y.S.2d at 80-81.   

Here, the complaint alleges that Defendants collectively hired Barnes for the role of 

office manager.  Complaint at ¶ 21. Barnes’ role encompassed the full financial scope of 

Plaintiff’s operations (Id. at ¶ 22); thus, he was placed in a position to steal millions from 

Plaintiff over a number of years.  Given this hiring and setup, Defendants’ subsequent collective 

decision not to supervise and manage Barnes are especially alarming.  The complaint alleges that 

defendants failed to supervise, oversee and/or monitor Barnes for many years during Barnes’ 

crime spree, allowing him to plan and execute his embezzlement and theft from Plaintiff and 

resulting in substantial damages to and against Plaintiff.  Complaint at ¶¶ 25-28.  Additionally, 

even though Barnes was “not forthcoming” with reports for 18 months to two years, Exhibit 2, at 

27:17-20, Defendants continued to give him unfettered and unsupervised control over Plaintiff’s 

funds. Even after Barnes’ embezzlement was discovered, Defendants perversely persisted in 

their hands-off management – keeping Barnes in place – to the next calendar year.  Exhibit 3, at 

5-9 (emphasis added).  It took Defendants six (6) months after Barnes absconded to approach 

the FBI. Id.  In line with Sergeants, Plaintiff’s claims based on Defendants’ failures to supervise 

and manage Barnes over the several years of his looting spree survives the Motion’s ELD 

challenge at this stage of the litigation.   
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 Defendant also ignores the ELD exception where a duty is imposed by law rather than by 

contract.  The ELD does not bar claims “where the defendant had a duty imposed by law rather 

than by contract and where the defendant’s intentional breach of that duty caused purely 

monetary harm to the plaintiff.”  Giles v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 494 F.3d 865, 879 

(9th Cir. 2007).  Here, the complaint asserts negligent hiring, mismanagement and supervision 

claims that are connected to defendants’ independent fiduciary duties as managers, officers 

and/or directors to supervise and manage employees/subordinates.  

The complaint also asserts defendants’ gross negligence and intentional misconduct in 

the breaches of such duties by pleading defendants’ utter lack of action over the span of years – 

even after Barnes’ looting was discovered.  Following that discovery, defendants did nothing to 

pursue Barnes or recover Plaintiff’s funds, and defendants failed to take any steps to remove 

Barnes from his position and to shield Plaintiff from further harm.  Indeed, defendants did not 

even contact the FBI until well after Barnes cleaned out his office and absconded with the 

computer system linked to his looting.  A failure to act that extends to the level of “conscious 

disregard” can be deemed willful and deliberate – or, in other words, intentional.  See NRS 

42.001(1) (conscious disregard means “the knowledge of the probable harmful consequences of 

a wrongful act and a willful and deliberate failure to act to avoid those consequences”).  

Defendants had knowledge of Barnes’ actual, not just “probable,” harmful acts and consequences 

(as they discovered their company had been and was being robbed), and defendants did nothing 

to further avoid those consequences.  Barnes lingered in his same position until the next calendar 

year and eventually absconded with the computer system and all files associated with his 

embezzlement, and defendants did nothing to mitigate or reverse the damages from that 

embezzlement.    
 

2. The Motion Ignores Defendants’ Intentional Conduct as Asserted by the 
Complaint and Supported by the Facts, and Yet Another Exception to the ELD 

Causes of action for intentional tort are not precluded under the ELD, so long as the 

supporting facts are pled.  Calloway II, 116 Nev. at 267 (internal citations omitted); Terracon, 
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125 Nev. at 73, citing Stern, 98 Nev. at 411 (in the context of intentional interference allowing 

for the recovery of purely economic losses).  The complaint has sufficiently pled, and the facts 

support, Defendants’ many intentional acts and interference:  
•   Defendants “failed to conduct the necessary due diligence”; Complaint at ¶ 23. 
•   Defendants “omitted” their duties to Plaintiff as managers, directors and officers with 

respect to Barnes for many years; Id. at ¶ 27 (emphasis added). 
•   Defendants “failed” to audit, investigate, and determine the extent of Barnes’ crimes after 

having knowledge of his embezzlement; Id. at ¶ 32.  
•   Defendants individually and collectively “ignored and failed to adhere to their 

responsibilities and obligations to Plaintiff”; Id. at ¶ 33 (emphasis added). 
•   Defendants who were on the board of directors screamed at Tadlock when he attempted 

to get Barnes to attend meetings and discuss Barnes’ embezzlement.  Exhibit 2, at 28:2-
15. 

•   Following discovery of Barnes’ crimes, Defendants failed to remove Barnes from his 
position immediately, and Barnes simply left the next calendar year, taking with him the 
computer system and all of the records and emptying out his office; Exhibit 4, at 22. 

•   Defendants who were board members hindered Tadlock’s efforts to investigate Barnes, 
ignored the fact that Barnes did not show up to meetings, and engaged in general 
obstruction that lasted for more than 18 months; Exhibit 2, at 28:3-19. 

•   Defendants who were board members “were shouting at [Tadlock] to leave [Barnes] 
alone” when Tadlock raised the issue of Barnes’ performance; Id. at 28:12-15. 

•   Defendants waited for six months after Barnes absconded to approach the FBI; Exhibit 3, 
at 5-9.  

•   Defendants, with knowledge of Barnes’ embezzlement from Plaintiff, failed to submit 
any claims on behalf of Plaintiff to the U.S. District Court for the District of Nevada, and, 
indeed, Defendants intentionally received awards of funds to enrich themselves 
personally pursuant to the Amended Judgment’s Restitution List and did not correct the 
record or ensure that Plaintiff would be the recipient of any such awards. Exhibit 1, at 14-
15. 

The foregoing examples of Plaintiff’s intentional acts, failures to act, and intentional 

interference, the complaint’s allegations and the evidence which support them, are sufficiently 

particular and substantive to render inapplicable the ELD and foreclose dismissal of Plaintiff’s 

negligence-styled claims.   
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3. Defendant’s Motion Completely Ignores the Policy Implications and Analyses the 
Nevada Supreme Court Applies to the ETD on a Case-by-Case Basis   

 The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that analysis of the ELD should examine “the 

relevant policies in order to ascertain the proper boundary between the distinct civil law duties 

that exist separately in contract and tort.”  Calloway II, 116 Nev. at 261 n. 3.  The Calloway II 

court enforced the ELD there to prevent the creation of a “general, societally imposed duty [upon 

builders] to avoid such losses.”  Id.  Here, conversely, by exempting Plaintiff’s supervision and 

management claims from the ELD, the Court would not be creating a “general” duty – but, 

rather, reinforcing explicit and limited duties that only apply to officers and directors.  

Exceptions to the ELD also may be appropriate where “strong countervailing considerations 

weigh in favor of imposing liability.”  Terracon, 125 Nev. at 73, citing generally Barber Lines 

A/S v. M/V Donau Maru 764 F.2d 50 (1st Cir. 1985)).   

When the statutory importance, autonomy and power, and obligations and duties, of 

directors and officers – as enumerated in Chapters 78 and 86 – are considered, there are clear 

policy implications that strongly militate against applying the ELD.  A broad ELD enforced in 

every tort action with purely economic damages – as defendants would have this Court exercise 

– would eliminate critical causes of action and protections against officers and directors’ 

intentional wrongdoing such as fraud and conversion.  See Giles, 494 F.3d at 875, citing 

Grynberg v. Questar Pipeline Co., 2003 UT 8, 70 P.3d 1, 11 (Sup. Ct.) for the proposition that 

claims against a defendant’s intentional wrongdoing, “such as fraud and conversion exist to 

remedy purely economic losses.” 

These exceptions provide a basis for not applying the ELD here, as the Defendants’ 

actions, including, inter alia, failing to provide oversight of Barnes, interfering with Tadlock’s 

inquiry, continuing to employ Barnes, and failing to restrict his access to company IT systems 

and financial records until he absconded – were willful and deliberate acts.   

Defendant Freedman’s ELD argument completely fails for ignoring the basic foundations 

and nuances of Nevada law.     
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F. The Motion’s Attorneys [sic] Fees Motion Is Utterly Groundless, as Plaintiff’s 
Complaint and the Evidence Immediately Invalidate Defendant Freedman’s 
Contentions; Moreover, It Seeks an Illogical and Inequitable Result 

Attorney’s fees may be granted under Nevada law, but the standard is high; there must be 

“no reasonable grounds” for the complaint and the allegations must lack “any credible evidence” 

at trial.  For Defendant Freedman to take such a stance here is futile, considering the complaint’s 

assertions and all the evidence in this matter, including, inter alia, the sworn testimony of 

multiple managing members and controlling directors (Drs. Smith and Tadlock), and waves of 

evidence (including party admissions under oath) from both criminal proceedings before the U.S. 

District Court for the District of Nevada, and multiple bankruptcy proceedings before the U.S. 

Bankruptcy Court for the District of Nevada.  Indeed, just one prong of evidence – the 

Restitution List alone from the Amended Judgment – is more than enough to support the 

complaint’s breach of fiduciary duties claim (including duty of loyalty)6 and intentional 

misconduct claims, and defeat Defendant Freedman’s Fees Motion.    

Taking a step back, the Fees Motion also seeks an illogical and inequitable result: 

Defendant is asking for fees against an entity Defendant (and other defendants) controlled, for 

not bringing what Defendant argues is a timely claim (Motion at 12:26-28 (“well after the statute 

                                                
6 See Ng Opposition, at 9.  “In essence, the duty of care consists of an obligation to act on 

an informed basis; the duty of loyalty requires the board and its directors to maintain, in good 
faith, the corporation’s and its shareholders’ best interests over anyone else’s interests.”  Shoen v. 
SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 632 (2006); Kahn v. Dodds (In re AMERCO Derivative 
Litig.), 127 Nev. 196, 223-224 (2011). Defendants’ (1) failure to file a claim on behalf of 
Plaintiff in Barnes’ criminal case; (2) affirmative receipt of monetary awards to Plaintiff’s direct 
detriment and Defendants’ direct benefit; and (3) failure to inform the Federal Government 
and/or the U.S. District Court that the awards actually belonged to Plaintiff, each constitute 
separate breaches of their duty of loyalty to Plaintiff.  Plaintiff’s best interests were not served by 
Defendants failing to assert Plaintiff’s rights during the claims process – rather, Plaintiff was 
materially damaged by Defendants’ failures to file any claim.  Moreover, for Defendants to usurp 
then benefit personally from their failure to file a claim on Plaintiff’s behalf manifests a classic 
breach of the duty of loyalty.  Here, Defendants’ actions constitute both intentional misconduct 
(actively taking, or failing to take, steps to the detriment of Plaintiff) and a known violation of 
law, specifically NRS 86.343, as the awards are improper distributions that Defendants knew 
they were not entitled to (given that by the initiation of Barnes’ criminal matter, Plaintiff was 
insolvent, had been placed into bankruptcy, and abandoned by Defendants). 
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of limitations”)), when the only reason it was not brought sooner was Defendant’s failure to do 

so in accordance with Defendant’s own fiduciary duties to the entity.  As a matter of equity, an 

entity cannot be held responsible and barred when the very people responsible for the loss were 

the ones in charge and failed to act.  For all intents and purposes, Plaintiff was effectively 

operating under a disability until independent management, through the Receiver, took over.  See 

generally Donell v. Mojtahedian, 976 F. Supp. 2d 1183 (C.D. Cal. 2013). 

In the end, for the independent bases raised above, Defendant Freedman’s Fees Motion 

must be denied.   

V. CONCLUSION  

For all the reasons and bases detailed above, Plaintiff respectfully requests that 

Defendant’s Motion and Defendant’s Fees Motion should be denied in their entirety.  If the 

Court is inclined to grant either Motion, or any portion thereof, then Plaintiff will seek leave to 

amend the complaint.  See generally Footnote 5, supra.  

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
By: /s/ Todd E. Kennedy 
Todd E. Kennedy (NSB# 6014) 
BLACK & LOBELLO  
10777 West Twain Avenue, Suite 300 
tkennedy@blacklobellolaw.com  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
 
Attorneys for Receiver Timothy Mulliner, Esq., 
acting on behalf of Plaintiff Flamingo-Pecos 
Surgery Center LLC 
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ROPP 
ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada Bar No. 7504 

GORDON & REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI, LLP 

300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1550  

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Telephone:  (702) 577-9300 

Direct Line: (702) 577-9319 

Facsimile:  (702) 255-2858 

Email:  rschumacher@grsm.com 

 

Attorney For: Defendant 
DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D., LTD. 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

  CASE NO.   A-17-750926-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XV 

 

DEFENDANT DANIEL 

BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY TO 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO 

MOTION TO DISMISS 

COMPLAINT  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC a 

Nevada limited liability company; 

 

Plaintiff. 

 

vs. 

 

William Smith MD, an individual; Pankaj 

Bhatanagar MD, an individual; Marjorie Belsky MD, 

an individual; Sheldon Freedman MD, an individual; 

Mathew Ng MD, and individual; Daniel Burkhead 

MD, an individual; and DOE MANAGERS, 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 

BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 

 

Defendants. 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 
 

DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY TO PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION 

TO MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT 

 

 Defendant, DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D., (hereinafter “Dr. Burkhead” or 

“Defendant”) by and through his attorney of record, Robert E. Schumacher, Esq., of the law firm 

of GORDON & REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI, LLP, hereby submits this REPLY TO 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT (“Reply”) filed by 

Plaintiff FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC (“Plaintiff”). 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
7/20/2017 5:52 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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This Reply is brought pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(5) and is based 

upon the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities and any exhibits attached thereto, the 

pleadings and papers on file herein and any oral argument that may be presented at the time of 

hearing on this matter. 

Dated:  July 20
th

, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

GORDON & REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION & STATEMENTS OF FACTS 

 Plaintiff claims that it should have recovered monies ordered in restitution to the above 

named defendants after Robert Barnes’ criminal conviction for embezzlement.  Essentially, 

Plaintiff concedes that this action is derivative in nature.  However, Plaintiff failed to meet the 

statutory prerequisites for maintaining a derivative action before filing the instant lawsuit.  As 

such, this case should be dismissed. 

 Further, Plaintiff lacks standing to pursue the instant action.  Plaintiff is not the real party 

in interest since this action is being undertaken for the benefit of a receiver who is suing on 

behalf of a creditor of Plaintiff.  More importantly, Plaintiff claims is may maintain this action  

II. DISCUSSION 

A. This Court Should Dismiss the Claims Against Defendant   

1. Plaintiff’s Claims Fail as a Matter of Law 

 Defendant was a member of the Board of managers for Plaintiff.  Plaintiff claims that 

Defendant is liable for negligent training, supervision, and retention of Plaintiff’s former office 

manager Robert Barnes.  Plaintiff also claims that Defendant breached his fiduciary duty of care 

to Plaintiff.  However, these actions allegedly undertaken by Defendant were clearly within the 

scope of authority granted under Plaintiff’s Operating Agreement since hiring, supervising, and 

retaining an office manager is clearly within the scope of duties given to members of the Board 

of Managers.  The Board of Managers has the power to employ and retain persons to act as 

employees.  See Exhibit 2 to Motion, Section 7.3(c).  Further, any power not specifically 

enumerated under the operating agreement rests with the Board of Managers.  See Exhibit 2 

Motion, Section 7.1.   

 Any actions taken by Defendant with respect to his alleged negligent hiring, supervision, 

and retention of Mr. Barnes were performed within the scope of the authority conferred to him 

under the operating agreement.  Further, causes of action for negligent hiring, training, and 

supervision implicate liability of the employer, not an employee or member of an LLC.  See 
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Helle v. Core Home Health Services of Nevada, 2008 WL 6101984 at * 3 (Nov. 20, 2008, Nev.); 

See also ETT, Inc. v. Delgada, 2010 WL 3246334 at * 8 (April 29, 2010, Nev.).  Defendant 

cannot be held liable for these torts as a matter of law since he was not the employer of Barnes, 

which was in fact, Plaintiff. 

 Additionally, Plaintiff has failed to plead with particularity pursuant to NRCP 9(b) how 

Defendants actions amounted to “intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law.”  

Without doing so, Plaintiff fails to overcome the presumption that Defendant acted in good faith 

when performing actions what are within his authority and scope of employment under the 

Operating Agreement.  See NRS 78.138(3).  Further, Plaintiff’s Complaint does not show on its 

face what actions undertaken by Defendant amounted to gross negligence or intentional 

misconduct.  One reference to alleged gross misconduct in the Complaint does not meet this 

standard.  Plaintiff asserts essentially that Defendant should have undertaken another course of 

action with respect to Robert Barnes embezzlement.  However, Plaintiff failed to plead with 

particularity under the heightened pleading standard of NRCP 9(b) what conduct of Defendant 

amounted to intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law.”  Plaintiff’s claim must 

fail as a matter of law since it cannot overcome the business judgment rule’s good faith 

presumption and it has not met the heightened pleading standard of NRCP 9(b). 

 Finally, Plaintiff cannot maintain causes of action based on negligence theories due to the 

economic loss doctrine.  Plaintiff has not alleged any physical injury or property damage in its 

Complaint.  See Complaint, generally.  The Nevada Supreme Court has applied the economic 

loss doctrine to prevent plaintiffs from recovering damages for purely economic loss under 

negligence theories.  See Arco Prods. Co. v. May, 113 Nev. 1295 (1997).  Here, Plaintiff has 

alleged purely economic damages and seeks to recover under theories of negligence.  This is 

precisely the type of action that is barred under the economic loss doctrine.  As such, the claims 

against Defendant should be dismissed. 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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2. Plaintiff Failed to Adhere to Statutory Prerequisites to Maintain a Derivative Action 

 Plaintiff claims that it “was the actual victim” of Barnes embezzlement.  Opposition to 

Burkhead Motion to Dismiss, p.7:6.  Further, Plaintiff claims that the restitution awards to 

Defendants after Barnes was convicted of embezzlement were “sums rightfully belonging to 

Plaintiff.”  Opposition, p.7:13-14.  These arguments frame Plaintiff’s claims in the instant action 

as derivative claims.  Nevada law is clear that certain statutory prerequisites must be met in order 

to maintain a derivative action. 

 A member … may bring an action in the right of a limited-liability company to recover a 

judgment in its favor if managers or members with authority to do so have refused to bring the 

action or if an effort to cause those managers or members to bring the action is not likely to 

succeed.  NRS 86.483.  In a derivative action, the plaintiff must be a member at the time of the 

transaction of which the plaintiff complains.  NRS 86.485.  In a derivative action, the complaint 

must set forth with particularity:  (1) the effort of the plaintiff to secure initiation of the action by 

a manager or member; or (2) the reasons for the plaintiff not making the effort to secure 

initiation of the action by a manager or member.  NRS 86.487. 

 Plaintiff is asserting the instant claims on behalf of itself, when this action is truly a 

derivative action.  Upon information and belief, a bankruptcy receiver hired the law firm of 

Black & Lobello to file this action.  Importantly, this derivative action cannot be maintained 

since the receiver is not a current member of Plaintiff ass required by NRS 86.485.  Further, 

Plaintiff failed to meet the statutory requirements for pleading a derivative action under NRS 

86.487.  Plaintiff’s Complaint does not set forth with particularity the effort of the plaintiff to 

secure initiation of the action by a manager or member or the reasons for the plaintiff not making 

the effort to secure initiation of the action by a manager or member.  NRS 86.487; see also, 

Complaint generally. 

 Since Plaintiff’s Complaint is truly a derivative action it cannot maintain this suit since it 

failed to comply with NRS 86.486 and NRS 86.487.  Accordingly, this suit should be dismissed. 

 

AA000338



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

-6- 

G
o

rd
o

n
 &

 R
ee

s 
S

cu
ll

y
 M

a
n

su
k

h
a

n
i,

 L
L

P
 

3
0

0
 S

o
u

th
 4

th
 S

tr
ee

t,
 S

u
it

e 
1
5

5
0

 

L
a

s 
V

eg
a

s,
 N

V
 8

9
1

0
1

 
 

3. Alternatively, the Claims Against Dr. Burkhead Should be Stayed Since Plaintiff 

Lacks Standing to Maintain this Action 

 

 When the revoked corporate status is brought to the attention of the court by a motion, a 

reasonable period of time should be allowed to the entity to bring its status back to current.  See 

AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington, 126 Nev. 578, 245 P.3d 1190, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 55, 

126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 53 (Nev. Dec. 30, 2010).  Plaintiff’s corporate status is currently revoked.  

See Exhibit 1 to Motion.  Plaintiff is required to bring its corporate status to current when its 

revoked corporate status is brought to the Court’s attention.  Without doing so, it is unable to 

maintain this action.  If Plaintiff fails to do so within a reasonable period of time, then this Court 

should dismiss the Complaint. 

 AA Primo Builders holds that a LLC must be reinstated to restore “the entity's capacity to 

conduct itself as a limited liability company retroactively to the date of revocation; this includes 

the right to litigate pending cases to conclusion.”  AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington, 126 

Nev. 578, 585, 245 P.3d 1190, 1195, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 55, *14, 126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 53 (Nev. 

Dec. 30, 2010) (emphasis added).  Further, “[a]dministrative revocation of a domestic limited 

liability company's charter suspends the entity's right to transact business, not its ability to 

prosecute an ongoing suit.”  AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington, 126 Nev. 578, 580, 245 

P.3d 1190, 1192, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 55, *2, 126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 53 (Nev. Dec. 30, 2010) 

(emphasis added).  Importantly, AA Primo Builders recognizes the ability of a revoked LLC to 

maintain an ongoing/pending lawsuit, rather than maintain an action that was not filed until after 

the revocation occurred.  Here, the lawsuit was not filed until after the Plaintiff’s charter was 

revoked.  For this reason, Plaintiff is required to bring its corporate status to current in order to 

maintain this action. 

 Plaintiff claims that it is able to maintain this action since dissolved LLCs may bring 

known claims up to two years after dissolution.  Opposition, p.11:18-21.  However, Plaintiff’s 

corporate charter was revoked on January 31, 2015.  The instant action was filed February 10, 

2017.  This is more than two years after the date of revocation.  Thus, Plaintiff failed to timely 

file the instant action, which is a known claim since the allegations of misconduct stretch back 
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far before the date of Plaintiff’s revocation.  As such, this Complaint should be dismissed as 

untimely if Plaintiff fails to reinstate its corporate charter.  

4. Plaintiff’s Claims are Precluded by the Applicable Statutes of Limitations 

 Plaintiff alleges four causes of action based on negligence theories.  The statute of 

limitations for negligence based claims is four years.  NRS 11.190(4)(e).  Barnes’ plea deal in 

the embezzlement criminal action states that his activities continues to 2013.  See Exhibit C to 

Freedman Motion to Dismiss.  Plaintiff does not allege in the Complaint that any criminal 

activities continued after 2013.  Plaintiff’s Complaint was filed on February 10, 2017.  This is 

more than two years after the criminal activity by Barnes too place.  As such, all of the causes of 

action in the Complaint are barred by NRS 11.190(4)(e).  This Court should dismiss all of the 

causes of action with prejudice since they are barred by the applicable statute of limitations. See 

Bemis v. Estate of Bemis, 114 Nev. 1021, 967 P.2d 437 (1998) (dismissing action for failure to 

state a claim when cause of action barred by applicable statute of limitations). 

III. CONCLUSION 

 Based on the foregoing, Defendant respectfully requests that this Court dismiss all of 

Plaintiff’s claims.  Alternatively, Plaintiff should be required to reinstate its corporate charter in 

order to maintain this action. 

Dated:  July 20
th

, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

GORDON & REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2, effective June 1, 2014, and 

N.E.F.C.R. Rule 9, I certify that I am an employee of GORDON & REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI LLP and that on this 20
th

 day of July, 2017, I did cause a true correct copy of 

DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY TO PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION 

TO MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT to be served via the Court’s electronic filing 

service on all parties listed below (unless indicated otherwise): 

 

Timothy R. Mulliner, Esq. 

MULLINER LAW GROUP CHTD. 

101 Convention Center Drive, Suite 650 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelesis, Esq. 

COOK & KELESIS, LTD 

517 S. 9
th

 Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

SHELDON J. FREEDMAN 

 

Bryce K. Kuminoto, Esq. 

Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 

Erica C. Smit, Esq. 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2
nd

 Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 

Attorney for Defendants 

MATTHEW NG MD, incorrectly named MATHEW NG MD and  

PANKAJ BHATNAGAR MD incorrectly named PANKAJ BHATANAGAR MD 

 

 

   

/s/ Andrea Montero 

  An Employee of Gordon & Rees Scully 

Mansukhani, LLP 

 

1133021/33772290v.1 
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ERR 
ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada Bar No. 7504 

GORDON & REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI LLP 

300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1550  

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Telephone:  (702) 577-9300 

Direct Line: (702) 577-9319 

Facsimile:  (702) 255-2858 

Email:  rschumacher@grsm.com 

 
Attorney For: Defendant 
DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
  

  
CASE NO.   A-17-750926-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XV 

 

NOTICE OF ERRATA TO 

DEFENDANT DANIEL 

BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY TO 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO 

MOTION TO DISMISS 

COMPLAINT  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC a 

Nevada limited liability company; 

 

Plaintiff. 

 

Vs. 

 

William Smith MD, an individual; Pankaj 

Bhatanagar MD, an individual; Marjorie Belsky MD, 

an individual; Sheldon Freedman MD, an individual; 

Mathew Ng MD, and individual; Daniel Burkhead 

MD, an individual; and DOE MANAGERS, 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 

BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 

 

Defendants. 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 
 

/ / /  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

 
 

Case Number: A-17-750926-B

Electronically Filed
7/24/2017 3:11 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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NOTICE OF ERRATA TO DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY TO 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant, DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D., (hereinafter 

“Dr. Burkhead” or “Defendant”) hereby files this Notice of Errata to address a clerical error in 

the Introduction of the Reply to Plaintiff’s Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Complaint, which 

was filed July 20, 2017.  The closing paragraph of the Introduction should read as follows: 

 Further, Plaintiff lacks standing to pursue the instant action.  Plaintiff is not the real party 

in interest since this action is being undertaken for the benefit of a receiver who is suing on 

behalf of a creditor of Plaintiff.  More importantly, Plaintiff claims are barred by the applicable 

statute of limitations for negligence actions.  Finally, Plaintiff improperly seeks to hold its former 

members liable for claims that must be asserted against an employer when Plaintiff itself was the 

employer of the employee whose actions are the basis of the Complaint. 

 Additionally, one typographical error on Page 5, line 19 of the original filing was 

corrected.   

 Corrected Reply is attached hereto as Exhibit “1”. 

Dated:  July 24, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

 

GORDON & REES SCULLY  

MANSUKHANI LLP 

 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2, effective June 1, 2014, and 

N.E.F.C.R. Rule 9, I certify that I am an employee of GORDON & REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI LLP and that on this24
th

 day of July, 2017, I did cause a true correct copy of 

NOTICE OF ERRATA TO DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY TO 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT 

to be served via the Court’s electronic filing service on all parties listed below (unless indicated 

otherwise): 

 

Timothy R. Mulliner, Esq. 

MULLINER LAW GROUP CHTD. 

101 Convention Center Drive, Suite 650 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER 

 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelesis, Esq. 

COOK & KELESIS, LTD 

517 S. 9
th 

Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendant  

SHELDON J. FREEDMAN 

 

 

Bryce K. Kunimoto, Esq.  

Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 

Erica C. Smit, Esq. 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2
nd

 Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 

Attorneys for Defendants  

MATTHEW NG MD and  

PANKAJ BHATNAGAR MD 

   

/s/ Andrea Montero 

  An Employee of Gordon & Rees Scully 

Mansukhani LLP 

 

1133021/33871637v.1 
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ROPP 
ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada Bar No. 7504 

GORDON & REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI, LLP 

300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1550  

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Telephone:  (702) 577-9300 

Direct Line: (702) 577-9319 

Facsimile:  (702) 255-2858 

Email:  rschumacher@grsm.com 

 

Attorney For: Defendant 
DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D., LTD. 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

  CASE NO.   A-17-750926-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XV 

 

DEFENDANT DANIEL 

BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY TO 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO 

MOTION TO DISMISS 

COMPLAINT  

FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC a 

Nevada limited liability company; 

 

Plaintiff. 

 

vs. 

 

William Smith MD, an individual; Pankaj 

Bhatanagar MD, an individual; Marjorie Belsky MD, 

an individual; Sheldon Freedman MD, an individual; 

Mathew Ng MD, and individual; Daniel Burkhead 

MD, an individual; and DOE MANAGERS, 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 1-25, ROE 

BUSINESS ENTITIES 1-25; 

 

Defendants. 

 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 
 

DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY TO PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION 

TO MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT 

 

 Defendant, DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D., (hereinafter “Dr. Burkhead” or 

“Defendant”) by and through his attorney of record, Robert E. Schumacher, Esq., of the law firm 

of GORDON & REES SCULLY MANSUKHANI, LLP, hereby submits this REPLY TO 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT (“Reply”) filed by 

Plaintiff FLAMINGO-PECOS SURGERY CENTER, LLC (“Plaintiff”). 

AA000346
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This Reply is brought pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(5) and is based 

upon the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities and any exhibits attached thereto, the 

pleadings and papers on file herein and any oral argument that may be presented at the time of 

hearing on this matter. 

Dated:  July 24
th

, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

GORDON & REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION & STATEMENTS OF FACTS 

 Plaintiff claims that it should have recovered monies ordered in restitution to the above 

named defendants after Robert Barnes’ criminal conviction for embezzlement.  Essentially, 

Plaintiff concedes that this action is derivative in nature.  However, Plaintiff failed to meet the 

statutory prerequisites for maintaining a derivative action before filing the instant lawsuit.  As 

such, this case should be dismissed. 

 Further, Plaintiff lacks standing to pursue the instant action.  Plaintiff is not the real party 

in interest since this action is being undertaken for the benefit of a receiver who is suing on 

behalf of a creditor of Plaintiff.  More importantly, Plaintiff claims are barred by the applicable 

statute of limitations for negligence actions.  Finally, Plaintiff improperly seeks to hold its former 

members liable for claims that must be asserted against an employer when Plaintiff itself was the 

employer of the employee whose actions are the basis of the Complaint. 

II. DISCUSSION 

A. This Court Should Dismiss the Claims Against Defendant   

1. Plaintiff’s Claims Fail as a Matter of Law 

 Defendant was a member of the Board of managers for Plaintiff.  Plaintiff claims that 

Defendant is liable for negligent training, supervision, and retention of Plaintiff’s former office 

manager Robert Barnes.  Plaintiff also claims that Defendant breached his fiduciary duty of care 

to Plaintiff.  However, these actions allegedly undertaken by Defendant were clearly within the 

scope of authority granted under Plaintiff’s Operating Agreement since hiring, supervising, and 

retaining an office manager is clearly within the scope of duties given to members of the Board 

of Managers.  The Board of Managers has the power to employ and retain persons to act as 

employees.  See Exhibit 2 to Motion, Section 7.3(c).  Further, any power not specifically 

enumerated under the operating agreement rests with the Board of Managers.  See Exhibit 2 

Motion, Section 7.1.   
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 Any actions taken by Defendant with respect to his alleged negligent hiring, supervision, 

and retention of Mr. Barnes were performed within the scope of the authority conferred to him 

under the operating agreement.  Further, causes of action for negligent hiring, training, and 

supervision implicate liability of the employer, not an employee or member of an LLC.  See 

Helle v. Core Home Health Services of Nevada, 2008 WL 6101984 at * 3 (Nov. 20, 2008, Nev.); 

See also ETT, Inc. v. Delgada, 2010 WL 3246334 at * 8 (April 29, 2010, Nev.).  Defendant 

cannot be held liable for these torts as a matter of law since he was not the employer of Barnes, 

which was in fact, Plaintiff. 

 Additionally, Plaintiff has failed to plead with particularity pursuant to NRCP 9(b) how 

Defendants actions amounted to “intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law.”  

Without doing so, Plaintiff fails to overcome the presumption that Defendant acted in good faith 

when performing actions what are within his authority and scope of employment under the 

Operating Agreement.  See NRS 78.138(3).  Further, Plaintiff’s Complaint does not show on its 

face what actions undertaken by Defendant amounted to gross negligence or intentional 

misconduct.  One reference to alleged gross misconduct in the Complaint does not meet this 

standard.  Plaintiff asserts essentially that Defendant should have undertaken another course of 

action with respect to Robert Barnes embezzlement.  However, Plaintiff failed to plead with 

particularity under the heightened pleading standard of NRCP 9(b) what conduct of Defendant 

amounted to intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of law.”  Plaintiff’s claim must 

fail as a matter of law since it cannot overcome the business judgment rule’s good faith 

presumption and it has not met the heightened pleading standard of NRCP 9(b). 

 Finally, Plaintiff cannot maintain causes of action based on negligence theories due to the 

economic loss doctrine.  Plaintiff has not alleged any physical injury or property damage in its 

Complaint.  See Complaint, generally.  The Nevada Supreme Court has applied the economic 

loss doctrine to prevent plaintiffs from recovering damages for purely economic loss under 

negligence theories.  See Arco Prods. Co. v. May, 113 Nev. 1295 (1997).  Here, Plaintiff has 

alleged purely economic damages and seeks to recover under theories of negligence.  This is 
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precisely the type of action that is barred under the economic loss doctrine.  As such, the claims 

against Defendant should be dismissed. 

2. Plaintiff Failed to Adhere to Statutory Prerequisites to Maintain a Derivative Action 

 Plaintiff claims that it “was the actual victim” of Barnes embezzlement.  Opposition to 

Burkhead Motion to Dismiss, p.7:6.  Further, Plaintiff claims that the restitution awards to 

Defendants after Barnes was convicted of embezzlement were “sums rightfully belonging to 

Plaintiff.”  Opposition, p.7:13-14.  These arguments frame Plaintiff’s claims in the instant action 

as derivative claims.  Nevada law is clear that certain statutory prerequisites must be met in order 

to maintain a derivative action. 

 A member … may bring an action in the right of a limited-liability company to recover a 

judgment in its favor if managers or members with authority to do so have refused to bring the 

action or if an effort to cause those managers or members to bring the action is not likely to 

succeed.  NRS 86.483.  In a derivative action, the plaintiff must be a member at the time of the 

transaction of which the plaintiff complains.  NRS 86.485.  In a derivative action, the complaint 

must set forth with particularity:  (1) the effort of the plaintiff to secure initiation of the action by 

a manager or member; or (2) the reasons for the plaintiff not making the effort to secure 

initiation of the action by a manager or member.  NRS 86.487. 

 Plaintiff is asserting the instant claims on behalf of itself, when this action is truly a 

derivative action.  Upon information and belief, a bankruptcy receiver hired the law firm of 

Black & Lobello to file this action.  Importantly, this derivative action cannot be maintained 

since the receiver is not a current member of Plaintiff as required by NRS 86.485.  Further, 

Plaintiff failed to meet the statutory requirements for pleading a derivative action under NRS 

86.487.  Plaintiff’s Complaint does not set forth with particularity the effort of the plaintiff to 

secure initiation of the action by a manager or member or the reasons for the plaintiff not making 

the effort to secure initiation of the action by a manager or member.  NRS 86.487; see also, 

Complaint generally. 
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 Since Plaintiff’s Complaint is truly a derivative action it cannot maintain this suit since it 

failed to comply with NRS 86.486 and NRS 86.487.  Accordingly, this suit should be dismissed. 

3. Alternatively, the Claims Against Dr. Burkhead Should be Stayed Since Plaintiff 

Lacks Standing to Maintain this Action 

 

 When the revoked corporate status is brought to the attention of the court by a motion, a 

reasonable period of time should be allowed to the entity to bring its status back to current.  See 

AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington, 126 Nev. 578, 245 P.3d 1190, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 55, 

126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 53 (Nev. Dec. 30, 2010).  Plaintiff’s corporate status is currently revoked.  

See Exhibit 1 to Motion.  Plaintiff is required to bring its corporate status to current when its 

revoked corporate status is brought to the Court’s attention.  Without doing so, it is unable to 

maintain this action.  If Plaintiff fails to do so within a reasonable period of time, then this Court 

should dismiss the Complaint. 

 AA Primo Builders holds that a LLC must be reinstated to restore “the entity's capacity to 

conduct itself as a limited liability company retroactively to the date of revocation; this includes 

the right to litigate pending cases to conclusion.”  AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington, 126 

Nev. 578, 585, 245 P.3d 1190, 1195, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 55, *14, 126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 53 (Nev. 

Dec. 30, 2010) (emphasis added).  Further, “[a]dministrative revocation of a domestic limited 

liability company's charter suspends the entity's right to transact business, not its ability to 

prosecute an ongoing suit.”  AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington, 126 Nev. 578, 580, 245 

P.3d 1190, 1192, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 55, *2, 126 Nev. Adv. Rep. 53 (Nev. Dec. 30, 2010) 

(emphasis added).  Importantly, AA Primo Builders recognizes the ability of a revoked LLC to 

maintain an ongoing/pending lawsuit, rather than maintain an action that was not filed until after 

the revocation occurred.  Here, the lawsuit was not filed until after the Plaintiff’s charter was 

revoked.  For this reason, Plaintiff is required to bring its corporate status to current in order to 

maintain this action. 

 Plaintiff claims that it is able to maintain this action since dissolved LLCs may bring 

known claims up to two years after dissolution.  Opposition, p.11:18-21.  However, Plaintiff’s 

corporate charter was revoked on January 31, 2015.  The instant action was filed February 10, 
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2017.  This is more than two years after the date of revocation.  Thus, Plaintiff failed to timely 

file the instant action, which is a known claim since the allegations of misconduct stretch back 

far before the date of Plaintiff’s revocation.  As such, this Complaint should be dismissed as 

untimely if Plaintiff fails to reinstate its corporate charter.  

4. Plaintiff’s Claims are Precluded by the Applicable Statutes of Limitations 

 Plaintiff alleges four causes of action based on negligence theories.  The statute of 

limitations for negligence based claims is four years.  NRS 11.190(4)(e).  Barnes’ plea deal in 

the embezzlement criminal action states that his activities continues to 2013.  See Exhibit C to 

Freedman Motion to Dismiss.  Plaintiff does not allege in the Complaint that any criminal 

activities continued after 2013.  Plaintiff’s Complaint was filed on February 10, 2017.  This is 

more than two years after the criminal activity by Barnes too place.  As such, all of the causes of 

action in the Complaint are barred by NRS 11.190(4)(e).  This Court should dismiss all of the 

causes of action with prejudice since they are barred by the applicable statute of limitations. See 

Bemis v. Estate of Bemis, 114 Nev. 1021, 967 P.2d 437 (1998) (dismissing action for failure to 

state a claim when cause of action barred by applicable statute of limitations). 

III. CONCLUSION 

 Based on the foregoing, Defendant respectfully requests that this Court dismiss all of 

Plaintiff’s claims.  Alternatively, Plaintiff should be required to reinstate its corporate charter in 

order to maintain this action. 

Dated:  July 24
th

, 2017 

 

 

 

 

By: 

GORDON & REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI, LLP 

 

 

/s/ Robert E. Schumacher 

  ROBERT E. SCHUMACHER, ESQ  

Nevada Bar No. 7504 

300 South Fourth Street 

Suite 1550 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

DANIEL L. BURKHEAD, M.D. 

 

 

AA000352



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

-8- 

G
o

rd
o

n
 &

 R
ee

s 
S

cu
ll

y
 M

a
n

su
k

h
a

n
i,

 L
L

P
 

3
0

0
 S

o
u

th
 4

th
 S

tr
ee

t,
 S

u
it

e 
1
5

5
0

 

L
a

s 
V

eg
a

s,
 N

V
 8

9
1

0
1

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2, effective June 1, 2014, and 

N.E.F.C.R. Rule 9, I certify that I am an employee of GORDON & REES SCULLY 

MANSUKHANI LLP and that on this 24
th

 day of July, 2017, I did cause a true correct copy of 

DEFENDANT DANIEL BURKHEAD M.D.’S REPLY TO PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION 

TO MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT to be served via the Court’s electronic filing 

service on all parties listed below (unless indicated otherwise): 

 

Timothy R. Mulliner, Esq. 

MULLINER LAW GROUP CHTD. 

101 Convention Center Drive, Suite 650 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 

Attorney for Plaintiff 

 

 

Marc P. Cook, Esq. 

George P. Kelesis, Esq. 

COOK & KELESIS, LTD 

517 S. 9
th

 Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorney for Defendant 

SHELDON J. FREEDMAN 

 

Bryce K. Kuminoto, Esq. 

Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 

Erica C. Smit, Esq. 

HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2
nd

 Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 

Attorney for Defendants 

MATTHEW NG MD, incorrectly named MATHEW NG MD and  

PANKAJ BHATNAGAR MD incorrectly named PANKAJ BHATANAGAR MD 

 

 

   

/s/ Andrea Montero 

  An Employee of Gordon & Rees Scully 

Mansukhani, LLP 

 

1133021/33772290v.1 
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